
High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Monday, 14 January 2019

Time: 1.30 pm

Venue: Main Hall - Town Hall, Market Street, Chapel-en-le-Frith

4 January 2019

PART 1
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee 
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests

3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 10)

4. Update Sheet 

5. Planning Applications (Pages 11 - 12)

6. HPK/2018/0428 Land rear of 20 Sunlaws Street, Glossop, Derbyshire - Detached 4 
bedroom stone house with natural slate roof with associated external works and 
landscaping using existing vehicular access from Sunlaws Street (Pages 13 - 44)

7. HPK/2018/0571 Millstone Willows, Beet Lane, New Smithy, Chinley - retrospective 
application for a proposed stables building, access trackway and hardstanding area 
(resubmission of HPK/2017/0695) (Pages 45 - 54)

8. HPK/2018/0352 Broadlow Farm, Longridge Lane, Peak Dale - retrospective 
permission for erection of precast concrete sectional garden tool shed and timber 
stable / animal field shelter (Pages 55 - 62)

9. HPK/2018/0501 Lime Tree Park, Dukes Drive, Buxton - change of use of land for 
extension to existing camp site to include the siting of 21 static caravans (Pages 63 
- 76)

10. HPK/2018/0492 Community Field, Park Avenue, Furness Vale - new changing 
rooms and associated facilities (Pages 77 - 86)

11. HPK/2018/0465 Amenity space (former public conveniences) Water Street, Buxton - 
change of use from site of former public conveniences to community amenity space 
(Pages 87 - 94)

Public Document Pack



12. Performance on Planning Appeals (Pages 95 - 102)

SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Membership of Development Control Committee
Councillor D Lomax (Chair) Councillor E Thrane (Vice-Chair)
Councillor A Barrow Councillor L Dowson
Councillor C Howe Councillor J Kappes
Councillor R McKeown Councillor G Oakley
Councillor J Perkins Councillor P N Roberts
Councillor J Todd Councillor S Young



1

High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Meeting: Monday, 3 December 2018 at 1.30 pm in Main Hall - Town Hall, Market Street, 
Chapel-en-le-Frith

Present: Councillor D Lomax (Chair) 

Councillors L Dowson, C Howe, J Kappes, R McKeown, G Oakley, J Perkins, 
P N Roberts, E Thrane, J Todd and S Young

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Barrow and A 
McKeown (as proposed substitute)

19/78 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTERS BEFORE 
THE COMMITTEE
(Agenda Item 2)

Councillor Dowson declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda items 11 & 12 
(HPK/2018/0120 Former Bottling Plant,  - Station Road, Buxton – erection of extra 
care accommodation for older people landscaping and car parking and 
HPK/2018/0125 Former  Bottling Plant,  - Station Road, Buxton – new multi 
agency health care campus) (reason: member of North Derbyshire CCG Working 
Group – Better Care Closer to Home / PLACE)

Councillor R McKeown declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda item 6 
(HPK/2018/0428 Land to rear of 20 Sunlaws Street, Glossop – detached 4 
bedroom stone house with natural slate roof and associated external works and 
landscaping, using existing vehicular access from Sunlaws Street) (reason: 
objector is known to him) and withdrew from the meeting during the consideration 
and voting on the application

Councillor Oakley declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda item 6 (HPK/2018/0428 
Land to rear of 20 Sunlaws Street, Glossop – detached 4 bedroom stone house 
with natural slate roof and associated external works and landscaping, using 
existing vehicular access from Sunlaws Street) (reason: knows an objector) and 
withdrew from the meeting during the consideration and voting on the application

Councillor Thrane declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in agenda items 7 & 8 
(HPK/2018/0174 Thorn Heyes House, London Road, Buxton- alterations to roof  
and HPK/2018/0356 137 Thorn Heyes Cottages, London Road, Buxton – 
alterations to existing residential house to  3 apartments and 1 maisonette) 
(reason: owns property directly opposite Thorn Heyes) and withdrew from the 
meeting during the consideration and voting on the application

Councillor Todd declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda items 11 & 12 
(HPK/2018/0120 Former Bottling Plant,  - Station Road, Buxton – erection of extra 
care accommodation for older people landscaping and car parking and 
HPK/2018/0125 Former  Bottling Plant,  - Station Road, Buxton – new multi 
agency health care campus) (reason: member of Transition Buxton who have Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Development Control Committee
Monday, 3 December 2018

2

commented  on the applications, although have had no involvement in the making 
of the comments)

19/79 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 3)

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 November 2018 be approved as a 
correct record.

19/80 UPDATE SHEET
(Agenda Item 4)

RESOLVED:

That the update sheet be noted.

19/81 PLANNING APPLICATIONS
(Agenda Item 5)

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

(Having declared an interest, Councillors R McKeown and Oakley withdrew 
from the meeting during the consideration and voting on the following 
application)

19/82 HPK/2018/0428 LAND REAR OF 20 SUNLAWS STREET, GLOSSOP, 
DERBYSHIRE
(Agenda Item 6)

Detached 4 bedroom stone existing stone house  with natural slate roof with 
associated external works and landscaping, using existing vehicular access from 
Sunlaws Street

Applicant: Mrs E Garrett

The Committee had undertaken a site visit.

The Committee were addressed by Mr Collins in objection to the application and 
by Mr and Mrs Garrett (applicant)

The Operations Manager -  Development Services reported a further objection 
received after the publication of the update sheet which, in summary, raises 
concerns  that the Tree Report has not been updated following the receipt of 
revised drawings. The objection also states that there are inaccuracies in the Tree 
Survey Report and certain details are not provided on the site plan – such as 
levels, retaining walls, landscaping and surface finishes.  This neighbour is 
concerned that tree T 3 would have to be removed, tree T4 would become Page 4



Development Control Committee
Monday, 3 December 2018

3

structurally unstable and T1 would be severely damaged due to removal of part of 
its root system.

The Committee were advised that the amended plans show the footprint of the 
amended scheme does not encroach any further  on the trees on the site 
boundaries and  conditions have been recommended requiring submission of an 
Arboricultural Method Statement and   tree protection measures to be in place 
during the construction phase of the development.  Levels are indicated on the 
elevations and site section drawing.

RESOLVED:

1. That the application be approved as set out in the report;

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Operations Manager – Development 
Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of 
the Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive 
nature of the committee’s decision.  

(Councillors R McKeown and Oakley returned to the meeting)

(Having delcared an interest, Councillor Thrane withdrew from the meeting 
during consideration of the following two applications)

19/83 HPK/2018/0174 THORN HEYES HOUSE, LONDON ROAD, BUXTON
(Agenda Item 7)

Alterations to roof

Applicant: Brentoak Properties
 
The Committee had undertaken a site visit.

RESOLVED:

1. That planning permission be approved as set out in the report, subject to: 
a. an additional condition requiring the retention of the chimney on the 

gable end; 

2. That in the event of any changes being  needed to the wording of the 
committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / planning 
obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to the decision being 
issued, the Operations Manager – Development Services be delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the Committee, provided 
that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the committee’s 
decision.

19/84 HPK/2018/0356 137 THORN HEYES COTTAGES, LONDON ROAD, 
BUXTON Page 5



Development Control Committee
Monday, 3 December 2018

4

(Agenda Item 8)

Alterations to existing residential house and apartments to create 3 apartments 
and 1 maisonette

Applicant: Mr Howard

The Committee had undertaken a site visit

RESOLVED:

1. That planning permission be approved as set out in the report, subject to:
a. The additional conditions and informatives requested by the Highway 

Authority as set out in the update sheet;

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the  Operations Manager – Development 
Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of 
the Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive 
nature of the committee’s decision. 

(Councillor Thrane returned to the meeting)

19/85 HPK/2018/0496 SILVERLANDS, BUXTON FOOTBALL CLUB
(Agenda Item 9)

Variation of condition 6 relating to HPK/2017/0620

Applicant: Mr Robert Turner

The Committee undertook a site visit on 16 April 2018

RESOLVED:

1. The application for the variation of condition 6 relating to HPK/2017/0620 be 
partially approved as follows:

a. The use of the floodlighting shall only be permitted between the 
hours of:

i. 07:00 – 22:00 Monday – Friday and Sunday
ii. 07:00 – 20:00 Saturdays

b. The floodlighting shall be permited for a maximum of 6 days of the 
calendar year from 07:00 – 23:00 to allow for evening cup fixtures to 
allow for the potential of extra time and penalties

2. The conditions as imposed  under HPK/2017/0620

3. In  the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to Page 6



Development Control Committee
Monday, 3 December 2018

5

the decision being issued, the Operations Manager – Development 
Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of 
the Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive 
nature of the committee’s decision.

19/86 HPK/2018/0337 FERN FARM, FERN ROAD, BUXTON, DERBYSHIRE 
SK17 9NP
(Agenda Item 10)

Proposed new covered riding arena

Applicant: Mrs Wendy Howe / Helen Atkin Riding for the Disabled

The Committee had undertaken a site visit

RESOLVED:

1. That following the expiry of the consultation period, and subject to no new  
substantive objections being received, authority be delegated to the 
Operations Manager – Development Services in consultation with the Chair 
of the Committee to approve the application subject to:

a. The conditions and informatives as set out in the report
b. the proposed lighting condition to include the details suggested in the 

update sheet (inc. hours of use of any lights); and 
c. an additional condition re the hours of opening of the arena being 

restricted to 08:00 to 21:00 on any day of the week.

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, authority be delegated to the Operations 
Manager – Development Services to do so in consultation with the Chair of 
the Committee provided that the change do not exceed the substantive 
nature of the committee’s decision.

19/87 HPK/2018/0120 FORMER BOTTLING PLANT, STATION ROAD, BUXTON
(Agenda Item 11)

Erection of extra care accommodation for older people, landscaping and car 
parking

Applicant: YourLife Management Services Ltd

The Committee had undertaken a site visit on 10 September 2018

The Committee were addressed by Paul Tomlinson (on behalf of Peak Rail) in 
objection to the application and Chris Butt (agent)

The Operations Manager – Development Services reported that the Conservation 
Officer had confirmed that there were no objections to the application, subject to a 
number of additional conditions.

Page 7



Development Control Committee
Monday, 3 December 2018

6

In considering the application, a member conveyed thanks to the applicant and 
officers who have worked together to quickly and sensitively respond to the 
committees concerns to bring forward this much improved scheme.

RESOLVED:

1. That the application be approved, subject to:
a. A section 106 agreement as set out in the report;
b. The conditions as set out in the report;
c. The additional conditions required by the Conservation Officer as 

follows:
i. Material samples to be submitted for approval
ii. Window reveal details to be submitted  for approval
iii. Details of roof lights to be submitted for approval
iv. Drawing of dummy windows to be submitted for approval
v. Drawing of shoppers entrance to be submitted for approval

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Operations Manager – Development 
Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of  
the Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive 
nature of the committee’s decision.

19/88 HPK/2018/0125 FORMER BOTTLING PLANT. STATION ROAD, BUXTON
(Agenda Item 12)

New multi agency healthcare campus

Applicant:  Mr Peter West

The Committee had undertaken a site visit on 10 September 2018

RESOLVED:

1. That approval be granted in accordance with the committee’s previous 
resolution as set out in the report;

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior 
the decision being made, the Operations Manager – Development Services 
be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature 
of the Committee’s decision.

19/89 PERFORMANCE ON PLANNING APPEALS
(Agenda Item 13)

RESOLVED:
Page 8



Development Control Committee
Monday, 3 December 2018

7

That the report be noted.

The meeting concluded at 3.10 pm

CHAIR

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Development Control Committee

14 January 2019

Appendices Attached - None

1.        Reason for the Report: To outline the Committee’s determination of 
planning applications

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the report be noted.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Unless the Committee decide to waive their delegated power in respect of any 
application, the Committee’s determination of any application will operate as a 
final decision, unless:-

a. it is a major departure from Council Policy;

b. There are resource implications for the Borough Council which need to 
be considered by the Executive

3.2 The environmental, legal, financial and equal opportunities raised by each 
application are dealt with within each report.  There are no known Community 
Safety issues unless specified in the report.

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Background papers for all planning 
applications 

Town Hall, Buxton

TITLE: PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION BY 
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Tony Ashton

CONTACT OFFICER: Ben Haywood – Operations Manager – 
Development Services

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 14th January 2019

Application 
No:

HPK/2018/0428

Location Land Rear of 20 Sunlaws Street, Glossop, Derbyshire
Proposal Detached 4 bedroom stone house with natural slate roof 

with associated external works and landscaping. Using 
existing vehicular access from Sunlaws Street

Applicant Mrs E Garratt
Agent Mr Eric Smith 
Parish/ward Howard Town Ward Date registered 23/08/2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Mark 
Ollerenshaw mark.ollerenshaw@highpeak.gov.uk  01538 395400 ext. 
4921

1. REFERRAL & BACKGROUND

1.1 Members will recall the above application HPK/2018/0428 at the 
meeting of the 3rd December 2018, whereby it was resolved to approve 
the application subject to conditions.

1.2 The reason that the application is being referred back to the 
Committee is to consider the late representations/objection made by a 
Landscape Architect on behalf of the owner/occupier of No. 22A 
Sunlaws Street. The late objection was reported verbally to the 
Committee. However, given that it comprised a detailed technical report 
it is considered that the contents of the objection should be set out in full 
so that Members can consider the application in light of the late 
information received together with the response from the Council’s 
Arboricultural Officer.  Subsequent to this, the Landscape Architect 
acting for the occupants of No. 22A has provided further comments in 
response to the updated drawings.

1.3 Since the previous committee decision the applicant  submitted 
updated plans on 13th December with additional information which 
seeks to address the comments made by the objector. The applicant   
states the following:

 The house is beyond 3.72 root protection zone for T4 Oak.
 Proposed house is further from T3+T4 than initial design, no 

trimming required, screening as existing.
 Proposed house is more than 21m from no. 24 kitchen window.
 Tree root protection zone increased to 3.72m.
 No works near T1 roots will not be affected.
 Bins position are shown on plans.

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 Construction work will not affect existing fence, see section 
drawing.

 Retaining wall will not require concrete foundation. Clients 
proposing to use wooden interlocking blocks.

 House FFL is approx. that of the existing shed. No roots were 
encountered when the ground was excavated for that.

 The house is not behind no 24.
 Replacement trees Cherry Merton Glory. Apple Reverend Wilks.
 The tree report does not require amending as the building has 

been reduced in size, further from trees and outside the RPZ.

1.4 The neighbouring occupiers have been notified of the updated 
plans/information and the consultation period was extended until 3rd 
January 2018 to allow for any additional public comments. 

1.5 This report deals only with the late neighbour representations and 
the updated plans and should be read in conjunction with the previous 
report (appended) which deals with all other planning considerations.

1.6 The application details, including the plans, supporting 
documents, representations and responses from consultees, can be 
found on the Council’s website at:-

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet
?PKID=226673

2. CONSULTATION RESPONSES:

Third Party Representations

2.1 The late representation received on 30th November 2018 made 
by the Landscape Architect on behalf of the occupants of No. 22A is 
primarily concerned with the applicant’s Arboricultural Report and 
revised drawings (NB. These were subsequently revised). The objection 
states the following:

It is recognised that there have been major amendments to the 
proposal within the latest submission, which reduce the physical 
and visual dominance of the proposed house, and in particular 
reduce the overlooking of 22A Sunlaws Street, however an 
essential element is the screening effect of existing trees, and the 
design of the garden. 

The analysis of the drawings indicates that the proposals for the 
external works have not been properly considered and are not 
detailed on the drawings. These have been highlighted in the 
comments.

In particular as stated in the comments within this report relating 
to Drawing No 410/9A Rear Elevation/ Cross Section Site, “It is 

Page 14

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=226673
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=226673


probable that the fence would collapse, tree T3 would have to be 
removed, tree T4 would probably become structurally unstable 
and would start to die due to the removal of a substantial part of 
its root system. and  tree T1 would probably be severely 
damaged as a result of the removal of part of its root system.”

General Note regarding Drawings

1. Eric Smith Architect & Designer Drawings not dated

2. Eric Smith Architect & Designer Drawings annotated with 
scale but paper size not noted for PDFs available to the public on 
High Peak Borough Council website.

Arboricultural Survey

1. The Arboricultural Report dated June 2018 has not been 
updated following the issue of revised drawings on the High Peak 
Borough Council website on 22 November 2018.

2. There is no evidence of a soil assessment having been 
carried out as required in BS 5837:2012 Trees in relation to 
design, demolition and construction  Recommendations 
paragraph 3.4.1.

3. Paragraph 3.2.4 of the Arboricultural Report states that 
“To the south, T1 is a mature Cherry and T3 is a mature Holly T3 
which are large example of the species and are of good form and 
in good overall condition, providing good visual amenity value to 
the site.” In Appendix 4: Tree Data both trees, T1 and T4, are 
stated of being “Mod(erate)” Amenity Value. These statements 
are contradictory.

4. All trees identified within Appendix 4: Tree Data have a 
measured stem diameter except tree T4 Oak, located within the 
garden of 22A Sunlaws Street, which is estimated. The estimate 
is 200mm although is in fact 310mm. 

Fig 1: Trees T3 and T4

This can be seen from Fig 1, showing the holly T3, diameter 
360mm, to the left, and the oak T4 to the right. This has a 
considerable effect on the calculation of the Root Protection Area 
for tree T4, which should have a nominal radius of 3720mm as 
opposed to 2400mm.

5. Drawings Appendix 5:Tree Constraints Plan and Appendix 
6: Tree Impacts Plan need to be updated with the correct RPA for 
tree T4.

Page 15



6. Drawing  Appendix 6: Tree Impacts Plan needs to be 
updated with current site layout.

7. Paragraph 4.2.3 states “Trees will require pruning 
management to implement the new design proposals. The 
neighbouring Lime T23 will require its southern crown reducing 
by around 2m to facilitate the new development. The Holly T3 
and Oak T4 will also likely require minor reduction works to their 
northern crowns. It is likely the trees will readily tolerate these 
works”.

However Appendix 4: Tree Data states “No work required” for 
tree T4. These statements are contradictory.

8. Paragraph 4.2.3 further states “and that the visual amenity 
they provide will not be significantly diminished.”

Appendix 1: Authors Qualifications & Experience  lists five 
individuals none of whom appear to have any qualification or 
experience relating to visual assessment or determination of 
visual amenity.

9. Paragraphs 4.3.1 to 4.3.3 assess indirect impacts of the 
development on the trees as follows:

4.3.1  The tree Root Protection Area (RPA) detailed on the Tree 
Constraints Plan at Appendix 5, has been used as a layout 
design tool, to inform on the area around a tree where the 
protection of the roots and soil structure is treated as a priority.

4.3.2 Development activities are proposed near retained trees. 
The proposed new building encroaches into the edge of the 
RPAs of trees T1, T3 and T23.

(This does not take into account the correct RPA for tree T4.)

If required, trial pits could be dug to determine if any significant 
roots are within the proposed footings, and if so, special 
foundation design such as mini/micro pile and suspended beam 
or a cantilevered foundation could be used to avoid negative 
impacts on the trees condition.

4.3.3 The buildability of the proposed has been assessed in 
terms of access, adequate working space and provision for the 
storage of materials, including topsoil, in relation to the trees.

However there appears to be no account taken of the siteworks 
within the development area, only of the impact of the house 
itself. This is no doubt due to the paucity of information on the 
site plan and the fact that there was no level information visible, 

Page 16



(at least on publicly available drawings), at the time of publication 
of the Arboricultural Report.

Extrapolating information from the published drawings indicates a 
level change of 1.3 metres from the gate at the end of the 
driveway to the proposed ground level at the house, a distance of 
approximately 13.5 metres

Drawing No 410/2C Site Plan 

1. Path and retaining wall along south side of house not 
indicated. (These are only shown in an incomplete manner on on 
Drawing No 410/5A Floor Plans and indicated on Drawing No 
410/9 Rear elevation/cross section site along the section line.) 
Section Line is not indicated on any plans.

2. No paved areas to rear of house shown.

3. Materials for paved surfaces not indicated, other than 
turning area is to be a permeable surface and driveway is gravel.

4. No levels shown on any plans. Levels only shown on 
Drawing No 410/9 Rear elevation/cross section site.

5. No retaining walls shown. There appears  to be one 
between the parking area and the house, Drawing No 410/6E 
Elevations & Site Section, and one along the southern boundary, 
Drawing No 410/9 Rear elevation/cross section site.

6. Location for bins not defined. It appears to block the 
access or be within The proposed new hedge along southern 
boundary.

7. No details of landscape proposals other than “new hedges 
and fruit trees”. Details of species and specification at time of 
planting should be provided.

Drawing No 410/3A Site Analysis plan

1. “New hedge rear parking spaces boundary 16 and on 
boundary 22a”; no details of hedges provided.

2. “No trees of value removed, new hedge, replacement 
trees, additional planting and wildlife habitat provided”; no details 
provided.

Drawing No 410/5D Floor Plans

1. Undefined path and planting bed shown on south side of 
house.

Page 17



2. Inset showing original and current floor plans overlaid 
implies length of house reduced by 55%, this only applies to the 2 
storey element.

Drawing No 410/6E Elevations & Site Section

1. Front Elevation

Section shown with side path, retaining wall and bank adjacent 
22A Sunlaws Street. These elements are not shown on the Site 
Plan.

2. No trees shown except Lime T23 at 16 Sunlaws Street.

3. Note on drawing: “planting bed to attract pollinators”. This 
is not indicated on any other drawings. Is it the “wildlife habitat”?

4. Note on drawing: “vegetable garden” This is only indicated 
elsewhere on Side Elevation to No 16

Side Elevation to No 16

1. Vegetable Garden indicated  as above

Rear Elevation

1. Section shown with side path, retaining wall and bank 
adjacent 22A Sunlaws  Street. These elements are not shown on 
the Site Plan.

2. No trees shown except Lime T23 at 16 Sunlaws Street.

Elevation from Sunlaws Street

1. Note on drawing: “Proposed FFL 1.67m lower than ex 
drive” 

Side elevation to no 22a

1. Note on drawing: “Proposed FFL 1.67m lower than ex 
drive”

2. There appears to be a vertical change in level, 
(presumably a retaining wall), shown beyond the parking area. 
This is not indicated on any other drawings.

Drawing No 410/7B Parking Plan

Page 18



1. No details of  “New screen hedge at back of parking on 
boundary with no 22a garden”.

2. No details of “New boundary wall 1.8 m high rear 20. 
Screens parking spaces from existing houses 20+18 Sunlaws 
Street”.

3. No details of surface finishes.

4. No retaining walls shown. There appears  to be one 
between the parking area and the house, Drawing No 410/6E 
Elevations & Site Section, and one along the southern boundary, 
Drawing No 410/9 Rear elevation/cross section site.

Drawing No 410/8A Response to Comments

1. The comment “D Existing trees retained and protected, 
provide screen to 22a +24 Sunlaws Street. Trees higher than 
house”. is dependent upon the trees being adequately protected, 
which is not the case with the current proposals.

2. The comment “I Landscape design and maintenance 
conditioned and enforced by council.”  does not pertain to any 
proposals within the application. There are no landscape design 
proposals and no landscape management plan.

Drawing No 410/9A Rear Elevation/ Cross Section Site

1. The line of the cross section through the boundary with 
22A Sunlaws Street is not indicated on any of the drawings. 

2. The Lime T23 is indicated on the drawing but no other 
trees are indicated.

3. It is assumed that the cross section is located 
approximately 1.35 metres from tree T3 based upon the existing 
ground level of 19.45, correlated with the topographical survey.

Fig 2: Tree T3 Holly located adjacent to existing boundary fence

As can be seen from Fig 2, tree T3 with a stem diameter of 
360mm, as per the Arboricultural Report, is located immediately 
adjacent to the existing boundary fence

4. The implication of the cross section is that the existing 
ground is cut back from the line of the fence with an approximate 
65% slope on top of a 600mm retaining wall, an overall reduction 
in level of 1100mm. In order to construct the retaining wall and its 
foundation, excavation to a depth of approximately 1500mm 
below existing ground level is to be expected.

Page 19



These proposals takes no account  of the foundations of the 
fence, the presence of tree T3 or the Root Protection Areas of 
trees T1, T3 and T4.

It is probable that the fence would collapse, tree T3 would have 
to be removed, tree T4 would probably become structurally 
unstable and would start to die due to the removal of a 
substantial part of its root system. and  tree T1 would probably be 
severely damaged as a result of the removal of part of its root 
system.

2.2 As noted above, further comments received on 3rd January 2019 
have been made by the Landscape Architect acting for the occupants of 
No. 22A, in which the following  issues are raised:

 The drawings indicate that the proposals for the external works 
have still not been properly considered and not detailed on the 
drawings.

 The agent states that the tree report does not require amending 
as the building has been reduced in size, further from trees and 
outside the RPZ. However, the survey informs the design not vice 
versa.

 The report remains factually incorrect in relation to tree T4.
 The Arboricultural officer’s comments do not address the impact 

upon the trees on the boundary with No. 22A.
 Extent of paving still not indicated and finishes not referenced.
 The bins shown doe not relate to any normal bin size and will 

block the entrance gateway or be located on the adjacent bank.
 The retaining wall is now delineated with its line determined by 

the revised RPZ for tree T4. At this point a curved wall is shown 
on the outer edge of the RPZ.

 Retaining wall design and its affect on the adjacent bank, trees 
and fence is unclear.

 The retaining wall details indicate the requirement for buttresses 
and provision of lightweight drainage. 

 The probably degree of excavation required would appear to be 
incompatible with maintaining RPZs and integrity of boundary 
fences.

 The absence of any technical drawings would suggest that a 
design for this proposed wall has not been carried out. Any such 
retaining wall, which could possibly impact upon existing trees 
and features, should have its design checked by a chartered 
engineer to ensure it is feasible.

 There were at 3 December 2018, the date of the Case Officer’s 
Report, no landscape proposals and the development would 
have been injurious to existing trees and other features and 
therefore did not comply with LP Policy EQ6.

 As a result of the Landscape Architect’s Review, revised 
proposals were submitted and uploaded to the Council’s website 

Page 20



on 14th December – there is still no landscape plan other than 
proposals for two fruit trees and location of a hedge surrounding 
the parking area.

 Size and specification of wildlife friendly planting, garden planting 
and wildflower planting is not specified.

 Location of the planting appears to be only surrounding the 
parking area not along the southern boundary with No. 22A.

 In conclusion, the revised planning application still does not 
contain any comprehensive external works or landscape 
proposals but relies on a series of downloads from various 
websites; no proposals for a well-designed private space in 
accordance with Policy EQ6; and a major concern still remains 
the lack of a definitive proposal and design for the retaining wall.

The objector also considers that the Oak T4 has a DBH of 310mm not 
200mm quoted by the Council’s Arboriculturalist which casts doubt on 
the calculation that the root protection area will not be impacted by the 
excavation required for the retaining wall. 

2.3 The occupant of No. 22A states that Para 7.30 of the Case 
Officer’s Report is incorrect as it states that “The main sitting out areas 
for these neighbours are located immediately to the rear of the 
properties." The neighbour states that this is not correct as the main 
sitting out area for 22a Sunlaws Street is beyond their sheds, with a 
swing seat and bordered gravel area between the trees marked T4 and 
T6 in the Arboricultural Report.  The neighbour reiterates that the 
proposed house will significantly impact on their privacy in this space.

2.4 In addition, a further letter of objection has been received from 
the occupant of No. 18, who continues to have concerns that the 
proposal will result in loss of privacy to their property.

2.5 An additional letter of objection has also been received from the 
occupant of No. 22, who raises the following issues:

 The Committee should refer to the 2009 Appeal Decision before 
making their decision.

 The land was bought by Mr Garratt when the previous application 
failed, having objected to this and also a previous application.

 Members are welcome to visit No. 22 to see the damage caused 
by the erection of the six foot fence and also the impact the 
proposed house will have on the neighbour’s back bedroom 
window and kitchen.

 Previous planning applications have failed, what has changed?

Arboricultural Officer

2.6 The late representation/objection received from the Landscape 
Architect on 30th November 2018 has been reviewed by the Council’s 
Arboricultural Officer, whose main position is that none of the trees are 
worthy of a Tree Preservation Order and that the impact on trees is not 
a reason for refusal in this case. The Arboricultural Offcer states that 

Page 21



provided the works are undertaken with great care and in accordance 
with an approved method statement then damage could be kept to a 
minimum. The Root Protection Area could be addressed by the 
conditions requiring submission of an Arboricultural Method Statement 
and Tree Protection Scheme. Details of landscaping including planting 
specifications could be dealt with by a condition requiring submission of 
landscaping details.

2.7 With regard to the objector’s criticism that no soil assessment has 
been carried out as required in BS 5837:2012, the Arboricultural Officer 
comments that soil samples are rarely taken. The need for this primarily 
relates to identifying shrinkable clay soils where the proximity of existing 
or new trees to dwellings may an issue and foundation depths need to 
be designed accordingly. Shrinkable clay soils are not significantly 
widespread in the area and damage from tree related subsidence rare. 
This point is noted but would not make a material difference to the 
decision.

2.8 With regard to the objector’s criticism that there are contradictions 
within the Arboricultural Report concerning the condition of the trees T1, 
T3 and T4, the Arboricultural Officer has noted this but does not 
consider that it makes a material difference to the consideration of the 
application.

2.9 In relation to objector’s concern that the stem diameter of tree T4 
located within the garden of No. 22A has been estimated at 200mm but 
according to the objector is in fact 310mm, and consequently this has an 
effect on the calculation of the Root Protection Area for this tree, the 
Arboricultural Officer comments that it is not unusual for the DBH to be 
estimated for third party trees and goes on to state that the Tree 
Protection Scheme should reflect the Root Protection Area required.

2.10 With regard to the objector’s comment that the Tree Impacts Plan 
needs to be updated with the correct RPA and updated site layout, and 
further that there are contradictions within the Arboricultural Report 
concerning the extent of works required to the trees, the Arboricultural 
Officer considers that these matters can be addressed by condition and 
form part of the Arboricultural Method Statement.   

2.11 The Arboricultural Officer has also reviewed the additional 
comments/objections of the Landscape Architect received on 3rd 
January 2019 and states that:

My comments with regards to the potential impact of the  wooden 
block retaining wall on the tree roots are as follows.

• The trees which are to be impacted on are not protected trees 
although the Oak T4 is in third party ownership. 

Page 22



• If the Oak T4 has a DBH of 310mm the  required RPA is 3.7m. 
The face of the wall is around 3.5m from stem of the tree 
therefore less than 45o of the circumference of the RPA. 
BS5837:2012 allows for 20%  offset in the RPA (43.5m2) in this 
case 0.7m or an area  of 8.7m2. Therefore the works required to 
install the retaining wall may impact slightly on a small section of 
the  roots of the  Oak tree. I estimate that an area of around 5m2  
of the RPA  may be effected as  over 50%  of the Rooting area of 
the tree is on third party property and to be left total undisturbed  I 
consider the allowable offset is adequately provided for. Also if 
undertaken with due care  to ensure there is minimal disturbance  
this  will not be  sufficient to be detrimental to the trees health and 
or stability.

• The holly T3 within the proposal site has a DBH of 350mm and 
requires  a RPA of 4.2m. The face of the wall is from 4.5m to 
3.7m  from the  stem of this tree less than 45o of the 
circumference of the RPA is effected .  BS5837:2012 allows for 
20%  offset in the RPA (55.4m2) in this case 0.8m or 11.08m2. 
Therefore the works required to install the retaining wall may 
impact slightly on a small section of the  roots of the  holly tree.  
But if undertaken with due care  to ensure there is minimal 
disturbance  this  will not be  sufficient to be detrimental to the 
trees health and or stability. 

Given the above my previous comments stand and I would 
expect the Arboricultural Method statement to include the 
construction of this wall.

3. OFFICER COMMENT

3.1 The updated plans received following the December 
Development Control Committee meeting seek to respond to the late 
comments from the objector. The updated plans include details of 
levels, root protection zones, the new retaining wall, new hard surfaces 
and planting. The applicant states that the construction work will not 
affect the existing boundary fence with No. 22A and that the retaining 
wall will not require a concrete foundation as the applicant is proposing 
to use wooden interlocking blocks. 

3.2 The Objectors Landscape Architect’s objection is concerned 
principally with the Arboricultural Report and updated drawings. It is 
important to note that the footprint of the proposed dwelling has 
previously been reduced meaning that it is further away from the trees 
close to the boundary with No. 22A and also further away from the 
existing neighbouring houses on Sunlaws Street.  The applicant has 
clarified that the proposed dwelling is beyond the Root Protection Zone 
for T4 Oak and no works are required to T3 or T4.  Furthermore, the 
applicant states that 9 years ago  the ground within the Root Protection 

Page 23



Zone was excavated to 1.5m to provide footings for the timber building 
which is to be removed as part of the development and no roots were 
encountered at that time. The Arboricultural Report outlines the 
precautions to be undertaken to protect the roots before commencing 
work.  

3.3 As can be seen from the Arboricultural Officer’s responses 
summarised above, none of the trees are considered worthy of a Tree 
Preservation Order and the impact on the trees is not a reason to refuse 
the application, although conditions are recommended to require an 
Arboricultural Method Statement to ensure that the trees are protected 
during the construction phase. The Arboricultural Officer is of the 
opinion that provided that the works are undertaken with great care and 
in accordance with an approved Method Statement then damage could 
be kept to a minimum. The objector is concerned that the landscaping 
proposals are insufficiently detailed. However, it is considered that this 
can be dealt with by a condition requiring a detailed landscaping 
scheme to be submitted and agreed. With regard to the retaining wall, 
the applicant has suggested that should the Council consider further 
control necessary then a condition could be attached requiring the 
design of the retaining wall to be agreed. This is considered reasonable 
and therefore a condition is attached to the recommendation.

3.4 The occupant of No. 22A states that Para 7.30 of the Case 
Officer’s Report is incorrect. This states: "The main sitting out areas for 
these neighbours are located immediately to the rear of the properties." 
The neighbour states this is incorrect as the main sitting out area for 
22A is beyond their sheds, with a swing and bordered gravel area 
between the trees marked T4 and T6 in the Arboricultural Report. The 
neighbour considers that the proposed dwelling will significantly impact 
on privacy in this space. However, as noted in Para 7.30 of the original 
report there is tree/shrub planting along the side boundary with this 
neighbouring property which should minimise the impact that the 
proposal will have on the privacy of the neighbour’s garden and the 
design of the proposed dwelling, as amended, does not contain any 
windows to the side elevation facing towards the neighbour’s garden. As 
such, it is considered that the proposal will not result in significant loss 
of privacy to this neighbouring occupier.

3.5 With regard to the objector’s concerns about the details 
submitted for bin storage and collection and the extent of paving and 
finishes, it is considered that these matters can be satisfactorily 
addressed by means of the conditions attached to the recommendation 
relating to bin storage and landscaping respectively.

3.6 Overall, subject to conditions it is concluded that there are no 
arboricultural / landscape design or any other  grounds on which to 
refuse this application and therefore the proposal complies with the 
relevant Local Plan policies and the provisions of the NPPF in this 
respect.

Page 24



4. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSIONS

4.1 In conclusion, the updated drawings and comments from the 
Arboricultural Officer address the objector’s concerns regarding the 
impact on trees and having regard to this, along with the relevant 
development plan policies and material considerations set out in the 
previous report (appended), the scheme is recommended for approval, 
subject to conditions. 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. That planning permission is APPROVED subject to the 
conditions outlined below.

Conditions

Condition 
number

Brief description Comment

TL01 The development hereby 
permitted shall be begun 
before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this 
permission

AP01 Development in accordance 
with approved/amended plans

LA10 Tree retention
LA13 Arboricultural Method 

Statement
LA14 Tree Protection
NON 
STANDARD

Landscaping scheme to be 
submitted and agreed.

LA02 Landscaping to be carried out 
and maintained.

NON 
STANDARD

Biodiversity enhancements – 
integral bat box and bird box 
shall be incorporated within the 
new dwelling in accordance 
with details to be agreed.

NON 
STANDARD

Construction working times: 
i. 07:30 - 18:00 hours 

(Monday to Friday);
ii. 08:30 - 14:00 hours 

(Saturday)
iii. No working is permitted 

on Sundays or Bank 
Holidays.

NON 
STANDARD

Any piling restricted to the 
hours of 09:00 to 16:00 
Monday to Friday only

Page 25



NON 
STANDARD

There shall be no visible dust 
emissions beyond the site 
boundary.

CL05 If during development any 
contamination or evidence of 
likely contamination is 
identified that has not 
previously been identified or 
considered, then the applicant 
shall submit a written scheme 
to identify and control that 
contamination. This shall 
include a phased risk 
assessment.

NON 
STANDARD

Foul and surface water shall be 
drained on separate systems. 

NON 
STANDARD

Details/samples of facing and 
roofing materials and hard 
surfacing to be submitted and 
agreed.

NON 
STANDARD

Details of rainwater goods to 
be submitted.

NON 
STANDARD

Joinery details to be submitted.

NON 
STANDARD

Details for the storage of plant 
and materials, site 
accommodation, loading, 
unloading and manoeuvring of 
goods vehicles, parking and 
manoeuvring of employees 
and visitors vehicles during 
construction works.
 

NON 
STANDARD

2m x 70m visibility splays shall 
be maintained from the existing 
vehicular access clear of all 
obstructions greater than 1m in 
height (0.6m in the case of 
vegetation).

NON 
STANDARD

No dwelling shall be occupied 
until space has been laid out 
within the site in accordance 
with the application drawings 
for parking and manoeuvring of 
residents and visitors vehicles.

NON 
STANDARD

Solid bound surface to the 
access road

NON 
STANDARD

Details of arrangements for 
storage of bins and collection 

Page 26



of waste shall be submitted for 
approval.

NON 
STANDARD

Details of retaining wall to be 
submitted and agreed.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager - Development Services has delegated authority to do so 
in consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

Informative

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the 
issues raised through the application process and thorough discussion 
with the applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the 
Case Officer has sought solutions where possible to secure a 
development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area.

Site Plan

Page 27



Page 28



APPENDIX
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 3rd December 2018

Application 
No:

HPK/2018/0428

Location Land Rear of 20 Sunlaws Street, Glossop, Derbyshire,
Proposal Detached 4 bedroom stone house with natural slate roof with 

associated external works and landscaping. Using existing 
vehicular access from Sunlaws Street

Applicant Mrs E Garratt
Agent Mr Eric Smith
Parish/ward Howard Town Ward Date registered 23/08/2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Mark 
Ollerenshaw - Email mark.ollerenshaw@highpeak.gov.uk; Tel: 01538 395400 
Ext: 4921

REFERRAL

The application has been referred to the Committee by Councillor Godfrey Claff for 
reasons of transparency as the Applicant is the wife of a former employee of High 
Peak Borough Council Planning Department.

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve, subject to conditions

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The site is a rectangular piece of land accessed from Sunlaws Street and is at 
the rear of the Applicant’s house at No. 20 Sunlaws Street and also extends behind 
the neighbour’s house at No. 22. The site is surrounded by neighbouring properties’ 
gardens. No. 22A’s garden is to the south west side of the site, No. 16’s garden is to 
the north east side, Nos. 20 and 22’s rear yards are to the east and the site is 
bounded by a garden serving No 60 Queen Street to the west. The site generally 
slopes down from Sunlaws Street.

2.2 The site is within the built up area boundary of Glossop.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

Page 29

mailto:mark.ollerenshaw@highpeak.gov.uk


3.1 The application is for the erection of a detached dwelling and associated 
works and landscaping. Revised plans have been received during the course of the 
application. These change the scale and design of the new dwelling.

3.2 The proposed dwelling would be a detached two storey building with four 
bedrooms. The dwelling would be sited centrally on the rear part of the site. The 
existing single width vehicular access driveway from Sunlaws Street would be 
utilised and the plans indicate 3 parking spaces to the front of the new dwelling and a 
turning area. The plans also indicate new screen hedge at the back of the parking 
area on the boundary with both No. 16 and No. 22A Sunlaws Street.

3.3 The application and details attached to it - including the plans, supporting 
documents, representations and responses from consultees - can be found on the 
Council’s website at:-

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=2266
73

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The site has a history of refused applications and subsequent appeals for 
residential development. The most recent applications are as follows:

HPK/2009/0041 – Proposed detached dwelling and garage – Refused 03/04/2009.

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1086
67

HPK/2007/0748 - Resubmission of HPK/2007/0032: Land to the rear of 22 Sunlaws 
Street : detached dwelling and garage – Refused 12/11/2007.

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=9908
8

HPK/2007/0032 – Detached dwelling and garage – Refused 13/03/2007.

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=9451
5

HPK/2004/0401 – Resubmission of HPK/2003/0167 – one dwelling – Refused 
17/06/2004.

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=4325
1

HPK/2003/0167 – One detached dwelling – Refused 07/05/2003.

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=4013
3

Page 30

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=226673
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=226673
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=108667
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=108667
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=99088
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=99088
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=94515
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=94515
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=43251
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=43251
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=40133
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=40133


HPK/2001/0152 – Resubmission of application no. 039711 for 8 no. lock up garages 
– Refused 16/07/2001.

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=3609
3

HPK/0003/9711 – 8 lock up garages for rent to local residents – Refused 
12/03/2001.

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=3530
9

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

Adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S3 Strategic Housing Development
S5 Glossopdale Sub-area Strategy
EQ1 Climate Change
EQ5 Biodiversity
EQ6 Design and Place Making
EQ9 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land
EQ11 Flood Risk Management
H1 Location of Housing Development
H2 Housing Allocations
H3 New Housing Development
H4 Affordable Housing
CF3 Local Infrastructure Provision
CF4 Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities
CF6 Accessibility and Transport
CF7 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy

Supplementary Planning Documents

 High Peak Design Guide 2018
 Residential Design
 Landscape Character
 Housing Needs Survey
 Planning Obligations

National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018)

National Planning Practice Guidance 

6. CONSULTATIONS

Page 31

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=36093
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=36093
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=35309
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=35309


Site notice Expiry date for comments: 28.09.2018
Press notice Expiry date for comments: N/A
Neighbours Expiry date for comments on the amended 

scheme: 02.12.2018

Neighbours

6.1 7 no. neighbours have submitted objections to the proposal. Details can be 
read on file. A summary of the issues raised is provided below:-

 Loss of wildlife and trees.
 Loss of privacy to nearby properties on Sunlaws Street and Queen Street.
 The dwelling will be imposing for neighbours and cause overshadowing.
 Increased noise disturbance to neighbours.
 The Applicant is considerate in their use of the driveway but future occupiers 

of the proposed dwelling may not be.
 The noise survey doesn’t predict future uses of the drive by different types of 

vehicles.
 Nuisance from car lights and light pollution.
 Security risk due to potential of uninvited visitors going down the driveway. 

There will be no knowing who is legitimately round the back of the gardens 
and houses.

 The Applicant’s husband objected to previous applications and is therefore 
being disingenuous and tactical. He has contradicted his previous objection 
now there is some benefit to himself.

 The Applicant was formerly a planning officer at HPBC
 The new blockwork garage is a replacement of a previous car port.
 The acoustic fence has been erected against the wishes of the occupiers of 

No. 22 and has caused distress.
 The new fence is not an “acoustic” fence.
 The acoustic fence deflects sound back towards No. 22A and the two 

neigbbours at Nos 20 and 22A can no longer see each other for a chat..
 The dwelling is not in keeping and will dominate existing terraces.
 Over development of the site and the proposal will appear cramped.
 Previous applications for a dwelling have been refused so there is no 

justification for now approving the proposal. There have been no material 
changed to justify it.

 This is not an affordable dwelling.
 The site is not brownfield.
 The building design does not take account of sustainable building practice.
 There are two nearby schools and the street is very congested.
 Disruption and noise due to construction vehicles/deliveries.
 Danger to pedestrians from cars pulling out of the access. The access drive is 

narrow – too narrow for emergency vehicles.
 Neighbours at Nos. 22 and 22A may both decide to increase fence height 

making exit from the drive potentially dangerous. 
 No explanation of how the site will be accessible to all.
 The proposed dwelling may be sold in the future and future owners may wish 

to develop the land further.

Page 32



 Will planting be inspected after construction? 

6.2 2 no. letters of support have also been received (one of which is from a 
relative of the Applicant) in which the following comments are made:-

 The Applicant has kept the occupier of No. 16 informed throughout and the 
application seeks to minimize the impact on No. 16’s garden.

 The application incorrectly states that the boundary to the north side of the 
site is with the garden of No. 18 Sunlaws Street. In fact the north boundary of 
the site is within No. 16’s garden.

 There is a severe shortage of homes in the UK.
 If this development is not accepted then it is only a matter of time before 

another future owner would want to develop it.
 The Applicant has been open and transparent with their neighbours with this 

development.
 Personal comments about the Applicant are unacceptable and unnecessary.
 The development is sympathetically designed and the land was just a parking 

area and wasteland, hardly a haven for wildlife.
 The development is not profit driven but seeks to accommodate family and 

friends.
 Denying permission on the basis of overlooking would be unreasonable.

Consultees

Consultee Comment Officer 
response 

DCC Highways The Highway Authority did not raise objections to 
the previous applications HPK/2007/0032 and 
HPK/2009/0041. The highway comments remain as 
previously stated. If minded to approved please 
include all previously recommended highway 
conditions (see consultation letter dated 6 February 
2007).

Paras 
7.32-7.35

Arboricultural 
Officer

Main concern is the Lime tree T23 which is on 
neighbour’s land. It is not protected but the 
applicant needs to be concerned about the 
implications of the construction of this tree. The 
tree report deals with this at section 4.3, it will 
require some exploratory excavation to identify 
roots and there is the potential that the building 
may need to be built on pile and beam foundations 
to accommodate it. There is also potential impact 
on another neighbour tree. There will be tree 
removal required but this is either of low quality or 
small trees. Therefore based on the above there 
will not be an overriding arboricultural objection as 
long as any approval is suitably conditioned to deal 
with the impact on neighbouring trees and that 
there is some landscape mitigation.

Paras 
7.36-7.39

Page 33



Recommend (standard) conditions:
LA03 basic landscaping
LA10 tree retention
LA13 method statement
LA14 implementation of tree protection

Environmental 
Health Officer

Cannot see the proposed development having a 
significant (in a planning context) long term impact 
on amenity with regard to noise. The proposed 
residential use isn’t inherently noisy.

You may wish to consider conditions to protect 
amenity during the construction phase – control of 
dust, no burning/fires on site, restriction on 
construction hours and piling, and no amplified 
music/radios during construction phase.

There is little to suggest a significant risk due to 
land contamination, however, as the end use is 
sensitive a condition is recommended – if during 
development any contamination is identified then 
the applicant shall submit a written scheme to 
identify and control that contamination.

Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust

Based on the information provided and consulting 
our biological records database, the application 
area appears to be of limited ecological value. 
Ecological survey work is not considered necessary 
and a net biodiversity gain can be achieved by 
incorporating a bat box and bird box within the 
structure of the new building as detailed in the 
Planning Statement. The commitment to planting to 
benefit pollinators and birds is also welcomed.
Condition is recommended requiring an integral bat 
box and bird box to be incorporated within the new 
dwelling. The type and location of the boxes shall 
be approved by the LPA.

Paras 
7.36-7.39

HPBC Waste 
and Recycling

No issue with the planning application. However 
the occupiers of the new dwelling will need to bring 
their waste to the edge of their curtilage on 
Sunlaws Street.

United Utilities Recommend condition requiring foul and surface 
water to be drained on separate systems.

Paras 
7.40-7.42

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND PLANNING BALANCE

Policy Context

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be read in 
conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

Page 34



7.2 Section 38(6) requires the Local Planning Authority to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are material 
considerations which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides that in determining 
applications the Local Planning Authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the 
Development Plan, so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan currently consists of the High Peak Local 
Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Paragraph 10 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) explains 
that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. For decision makers this means that when considering development 
proposals which accord with the development plan they should be approved without 
delay; or where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of 
date, grant planning permission unless:- 

i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole. (Para 11 NPPF July 2018).

7.4 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF identifies the three dimensions to sustainable 
development as economic, social and environmental.

7.5 Local Plan policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development as contained within the NPPF.

7.6 Section 5 of the NPPF seeks to deliver a sufficient supply of homes.

7.7 The Council is considered to have a five year housing land supply and 
therefore housing supply policies are up-to-date.

7.8 The policies contained in the Framework are supplemented by the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), which is also a material consideration in the 
determination of applications.

7.9 A list of key policies, guidance and other material considerations is provided 
above (section 5).

Principle of development

7.10 Policies H1, H2, H3, H4, H5 and H6 of the Local Plan provide for housing 
development within the Borough in accordance with specific site allocations, other 
sites and instances as outlined in policy H1.

7.11 Policy H2 identifies the specific sites that are allocated for housing 
development across the Borough. The application site is not an allocated site.

Page 35



7.12 Policy H1 states that provision will be made for housing by supporting 
development of allocated sites, promoting the effective reuse of land, supporting 
housing development on unallocated sites within defined built up area boundaries of 
the towns and larger villages, encouraging the inclusion of housing in mixed use 
schemes, supporting development identified through a Community Right to Build 
Order and supporting self-build housing schemes. 

7.13 The site is within the built up area boundary of Glossop and is sustainably 
located having good links to local services and shops by walking/cycling and nearby 
public transport. The site is in a mainly residential area and is adjacent to residential 
properties. 

7.14 Overall the principle of a new dwelling on this site accords with LP Policy H1. 

Design/impact on the character and appearance of the area

7.15 The NPPF highlights that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development and creating better places in which to live and work (Paragraph 124). 
Section 15 of the NPPF seeks to protect and enhance the natural and local 
environment. Local Plan Policies S1 and EQ6 seek to secure high quality design in 
all developments; developments are required to respond positively to the 
environment and contribute to local distinctiveness and sense of place by taking 
account of the distinct character, townscape and setting of the area.

7.16 Given its proposed siting, the proposal could be considered a “backland” form 
of development as it lies behind the terrace of properties. However, the housing 
development at Wren Nest Close within close proximity to the south west is a similar 
form of development situated behind terraced properties and it should be noted that 
the previously refused applications in 2007 and 2009 did not raise this as an issue 
and therefore it would be unreasonable to resist the proposal on this basis.

7.17  As noted above, revised plans have been submitted during the course of the 
application which reduce the footprint and overall scale of the proposed dwelling. 
The long side elevations originally proposed have been reduced to create a more 
square footprint and a dwelling which will sit more comfortably within the plot with 
sufficient gaps from the side and rear boundaries. There are to be garden areas to 
both sides of the dwelling as well as the front and rear.

7.18 The dwelling is a two storey detached building with 4 bedrooms and therefore 
larger in scale than the existing terraced properties on Sunlaws Street. However, it is 
noted that there is a pair of semi-detached villas and a substantial detached dwelling 
on the other side of Sunlaws Street. The proposal will not therefore appear out of 
context in the street scene. The proposal will be partially visible from Sunlaws Street 
in the gap between Nos 22 and 22A as indicated on the street scene drawing. 
However, the dwelling will be set back a considerable distance from the road 
frontage and sits lower than the existing terraces due to the topography of the site. 
The hipped roof to the south west side of the building will reflect the hipped roofs of 
the terraced properties. The existing trees on the site boundaries together with new 
hedges to be planted will soften the impact of the development. The proposed 
materials are stone elevations and a slate roof which are sympathetic to the 

Page 36



character of the area. All windows and doors would have stone heads and cills to 
reflect the character of the nearby properties and windows have a vertical emphasis. 
The revised design and resulting impact on the street scene are considered 
acceptable.

7.19 The parking area to the front of the property will be shielded from Sunlaws 
Street by the existing terrace and hedge planting is proposed to the boundaries of 
the turning and parking area which will further soften this aspect of the development.

7.20 Bearing all the above points in mind it is considered that the siting, layout, 
size, scale, design and materials of the proposed development is acceptable. The 
proposal would have an acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the 
area. As such, the proposed development accords with Local Plan policies S1 and 
EQ6 and Section 12 of the NPPF.

Impact on neighbouring residential amenity

7.21 LP Policy EQ6 seeks to sure that new development achieves a satisfactory 
relationship to adjacent development, taking into account factors such as privacy, 
visual intrusion, shadowing and overlooking.

7.22 The impact on the neighbouring properties was a key consideration in the 
determination of the previous applications and appeals relating to this site.  There 
have been a number of attempts to develop the land: an appeal was dismissed in 
1990 for the erection of a bungalow, and an outline application for residential 
development was also dismissed in 2005. The most recent application to have been 
refused and subsequently dismissed on appeal is HPK/2009/0041. Other 
applications for the development of the land, going back to 1984, have all been the 
subject of refusals by the Council. Each of these decisions included the harmful 
impact on the amenity of adjoining residents as a reason for refusing planning 
permission.

7.23 The Inspector for the 2009 appeal found that the main issue was ‘the effect 
which the proposal would have on the living conditions of adjoining residents, 
especially in relation to any noise and disturbance or loss of privacy which might be 
involved’. The Inspector considered the impact on the living conditions of No. 22 
unacceptable as a result of the use of the driveway by people and movement of 
vehicles.

7.24 The driveway runs between the driveways of Nos. 22 and 22A and the use of 
this driveway to access a dwelling at the rear has been a key area of concern for the 
previous applications. In particular, No. 22 has ground floor windows to habitable 
rooms facing the driveway. It is noted that in the case of No. 22A, this neighbouring 
property does not contain any window openings to the side elevation facing the 
driveway.

7.25 Since the previous refusal in 2009 the Applicant has erected a close boarded 
fence to a height of 1.8m along the boundary of the driveway with No. 22 to mitigate 
noise and disturbance to the occupiers of No. 22 from people and vehicles using the 
driveway. This is in addition to the existing palisade fence and hedge noted by the 

Page 37



Inspector in 2009. The new fence provides No. 22 with privacy to their side facing 
windows and garden. The submitted Noise Assessment Report assesses the 
potential impact from the use of the existing driveway of the proposed dwelling on 
the side windows of No. 22 Sunlaws Street. The report was carried out through 
daytime and evening conditions and assumed an average 8 car movements per day. 
It measured the noise of vehicles using the driveway over the existing loose gravel 
surface. The noise report, which was undertaken before the 1.8m high close boarded 
fence was erected, concludes that the effect on the local noise levels would be 
negligible or less.  In addition to the new fence, the Applicant also proposes to 
replace the existing gravel driveway with a bonded surface to reduce movement 
noise further.

7.26 It is understood that the Applicant has been using the driveway since 2010 to 
access their rear garden and parking area and no complaints have been received 
from the neighbours over the last 8 years. This would suggest that the movements of 
vehicles / people along the driveway is not causing a significant nuisance to the 
neighbours. 

7.27 The Applicant also states that their existing right of way along the side of No. 
22 needs to be taken into account. They state that they have a right of way 
immediately to the side of No. 22 which runs alongside that house and past its side 
windows which they can use at any time, something which previous inspectors were 
not aware of.

7.28 In relation to the impact on No. 22A, it is understood that this neighbour has 
built a blockwork garage at the end of their drive which provides some screening 
from the proposed driveway. As noted, this neighbouring property does not contain 
any windows to the side elevation facing towards the driveway and therefore should 
not be significantly affected by the proposal.

7.29 Taking the above considerations into account, it is considered that there have 
been material changes to the site circumstances which lead me to conclude that the 
use of the driveway would not lead to significant noise and disturbance to the 
neighbouring occupiers. The Environmental Health Officer does not anticipate any 
noise disturbance for the neighbours as a result of this application though conditions 
are recommended to control and mitigate the impact of the construction phase.

7.30 The siting of the proposed dwelling is intended to respect the privacy of the 
nearby properties. The site is well screened with a variety of buildings and garages 
between the proposed dwelling and the neighbouring properties on Sunlaws Street. 
Separation distances of at least 21 metres are maintained from all neighbouring 
properties’ windows. The orientation of the dwelling is front-back with only secondary 
or non-habitable windows looking to the sides. The main habitable room windows in 
the front elevation look down the gap between houses on Sunlaws Street. It is 
acknowledged that the proposed dwelling will be within relative close proximity of the 
rear gardens of Nos. 16 and 22A Sunlaws Street, however, following receipt of 
amended plans the scale and footprint of the proposed dwelling is much reduced. 
The revised proposal will be much less overbearing in relation to the neighbouring 
gardens as the side elevations are shorter. There is some tree/shrub planting along 
these boundaries which will minimise any overlooking/overbearing impact. The main 

Page 38



sitting out areas for these neighbours are located immediately to the rear of the 
properties. To the rear site boundary, a mature hedge will screen the proposal from 
the neighbouring property on Queen Street. 

7.31 Bearing these points in mind, the proposed development accords with the 
residential amenity tenets of Local Plan policies S1 and EQ6 and bullet point ‘f’ of 
para 127 of the NPPF.

Highway safety

7.32 The NPPF promotes sustainable transport and recommends that local 
planning authorities should seek to encourage and facilitate where possible 
sustainable patterns of transport using practical alternatives to private motor vehicles 
so that people have a real choice about how they travel.

7.33 Local Plan Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that new development can be 
accessed safely, provides access to a range of transport modes and minimise the 
need to travel by unsustainable modes.

7.34 The proposed access to the dwelling will be from the existing driveway onto 
Sunlaws Street. The plans indicate parking for 3 vehicles and a turning area is 
provided. The Highway Authority does not object to the proposal subject to the 
conditions recommended for the previous applications in 2007 and 2009. These 
conditions require 2m x 70m visibility splays from the existing access to be 
maintained; provision of parking and manoeuvring space within the site in 
accordance with the submitted plans; and space to be provided within the site for 
storage of plant and materials, loading and unloading of good vehicles. An 
informative was also recommended advising that the proposed access driveway 
should be surfaced with a solid, bound material for the initial 5m measured back from 
the highway.  These conditions have been added to the recommendation.

7.35 Bearing the above points in mind it is considered that the application accords 
with Local Plan Policy CF6 and section 9 of the NPPF.

Arboricultural, landscaping and ecological issues

7.36 Local Plan policy EQ9 seeks to protect existing trees, woodland and 
hedgerows. Local Plan policy EQ2 seeks to protect, enhance and restore the 
landscape character of the Plan Area for its own intrinsic beauty requiring, inter alia, 
development to protect and/or enhance the character, appearance and local 
distinctiveness of the landscape and to resist development which would be 
detrimental to the local or wider landscape. Local Plan policy EQ5 seeks, inter alia, 
to preserve and/or enhance biodiversity. Section 15 of the NPPF seeks to conserve 
and enhance the natural environment.

7.37 There are trees within the site and on neighbouring land. The submitted 
Arboricultural Report identifies that the lime tree within the garden of No. 16 in 
particular will require pruning works as well as exploratory excavation to identify any 
significant roots and if so special foundation design could be used to avoid negative 
impacts on the condition of the tree. Two trees will require removal as they are 

Page 39



situated on the footprint of the new dwelling however these are both of low value, 
retention category ‘C’.  The tree report also identifies that the development provides 
an opportunity to undertake new tree planting as part of the soft landscaping scheme 
to mitigate for the required tree removals. The Arboricultural Officer raises no 
objection on arboricultural grounds, subject to conditions relating to tree protection 
measures and landscaping. 

7.38 Derbyshire Wildlife Trust (DWT) does not object to the proposal stating that 
the site is of little ecological value. A net biodiversity gain can be achieved by 
incorporating bat and bird boxes within the structure of the new dwelling and a 
condition has been included within the recommendation to this effect.

7.39 Bearing in mind all the above points it is considered that, subject to 
conditions, there are no significant arboricultural, landscape or ecological issues 
arising from the proposal. As such, the proposal accords with Local Plan policies 
EQ2, EQ3, EQ5 & EQ9 and section 15 of the NPPF.

Flooding & drainage

7.40 Policy EQ11 of the Local Plan seeks to support development which avoids 
areas of current or future flood risk. Para. 155 of the NPPF states that development 
in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from 
areas at highest risk. The site is not located within an area identified as high risk. 

7.41 United Utilities have raised no objection to the current application, subject to 
conditions relating to details of surface water and foul drainage. The application 
states that the development will incorporate sustainable drainage systems with 
permeable paving used on the drive, parking area and paths.

7.42 Bearing the above comments in mind, it is considered that, subject to the 
condition recommended by United Utilities, the proposal does not raise any 
significant issues relating to surface water run-off, flood risk and drainage. As such it 
is considered that the proposal accords with Local Plan policy EQ11 and section 14 
of the NPPF.

8. Conclusion & Planning Balance 

8.1 It is considered that the principle of development is acceptable. The siting, 
layout, scale, design and materials proposed would not harm the visual amenities of 
the locality. There are no adverse impacts in respect of highway safety, trees and 
biodiversity and there no flooding or drainage issues arising from the proposal. 

8.2 In respect of the impact on the amenities of number 22 Sunlaws Street, the 
development proposals are finely balanced. On the one hand, as noted by the 
Planning Inspector in his appeal decision, even with the erection of a fence, there 
would still be a perception of intrusion as a result of the movements alongside the 
house (22 Sunlaws Street) that would be over and above that which would be 
considered reasonable. Conversely, this application is supported by a noise 
assessment and the applicant has offered to surface the access with a solid bound 

Page 40



surface (rather than gravel as presently found), thereby reducing the potential impact 
of noise.

8.3 There would be economic benefits stemming from the construction phase, 
future residents contributing to the local economy and additional Council Tax and 
potential New Homes Bonus payments. There would be some limited social benefits 
with the contribution of 1 No. dwelling to the housing needs of the Borough, 
notwithstanding that the Council can currently demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land.  As such, on balance,  it is considered that the proposed development 
is  a sustainable form of development that accords with Local Plan policies S1 and 
S1a and the concept of sustainability at the heart of the NPPF. Therefore, it is 
recommended that planning permission be granted. 

10. RECOMMENDATION

A. That planning permission is APPROVED subject to the conditions outlined 
below.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Operations Manager - Development Services has delegated authority to do 
so in consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision.

Conditions

Condition 
number

Brief description Comment

TL01 The development hereby permitted 
shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this 
permission

AP01 Development in accordance with 
approved/amended plans

LA10 Tree retention
LA13 Arboricultural Method Statement
LA14 Tree Protection
NON 
STANDARD

Landscaping scheme to be submitted 
and agreed.

LA02 Landscaping to be carried out and 
maintained.

NON 
STANDARD

Biodiversity enhancements – integral 
bat box and bird box shall be 
incorporated within the new dwelling in 
accordance with details to be agreed.

NON 
STANDARD

Construction working times: 
i. 07:30 - 18:00 hours (Monday to 

Friday);

Page 41



ii. 08:30 - 14:00 hours 
(Saturday)

iii. No working is permitted on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays.

NON 
STANDARD

Any piling restricted to the hours of 
09:00 to 16:00 Monday to Friday only

NON 
STANDARD

There shall be no visible dust 
emissions beyond the site boundary.

CL05 If during development any 
contamination or evidence of likely 
contamination is identified that has not 
previously been identified or 
considered, then the applicant shall 
submit a written scheme to identify and 
control that contamination. This shall 
include a phased risk assessment.

NON 
STANDARD

Foul and surface water shall be 
drained on separate systems. 

NON 
STANDARD

Details of facing materials to be 
submitted.

NON 
STANDARD

Details of rainwater goods to be 
submitted.

NON 
STANDARD

Joinery details to be submitted.

NON 
STANDARD

Details for the storage of plant and 
materials, site accommodation, 
loading, unloading and manoeuvring of 
goods vehicles, parking and 
manoeuvring of employees and visitors 
vehicles during construction works.
 

NON 
STANDARD

2m x 70m visibility splays shall be 
maintained from the existing vehicular 
access clear of all obstructions greater 
than 1m in height (0.6m in the case of 
vegetation).

NON 
STANDARD

No dwelling shall be occupied until 
space has been laid out within the site 
in accordance with the application 
drawings for parking and manoeuvring 
of residents and visitors vehicles.

NON 
STANDARD

Solid bound surface to the access road

Informative

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues raised 
through the application process and thorough discussion with the applicants. In 
accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the Case Officer has sought solutions 

Page 42



where possible to secure a development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the area.

Site Plan

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

14th January 2019

Application 
No:

HPK/2018/0571

Location Millstone Willows, Beet Lane, New Smithy, Chinley
Proposal Retrospective application for a proposed stables building, access 

trackway and hardstanding area (resubmission of 
HPK/2017/0695)

Applicant Mr Jeremy Thorpe
Agent John Lomas
Parish/ward Blackbrook    Date registered 21st November 2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Colley,  
Jane.Colley@highpeak.gov.uk  Tel: 01298 28400 ext. 4981

REFERRAL

This application has been brought before the Development Control Committee at the 
request of Councillor Kappes for the following reason: 

I would like to call in this application. The reasons are that the application does not 
wholly comply with EQ2 and EQ6, there is visual intrusion from the new development 
and I suspect ground disturbance from the large number of hay bales stored near to 
the boundary fence. There seems to be some ‘creep’ in the work being done that was 
not included on the original plan/application.

  
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve, subject to conditions

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

  2.1 The application site relates to the residential curtilage of Millstone Willows and an 
area of a field located to the east of the residential property. The field extends 
from beet lane, rising towards a public footpath to the south which connects Beet 
Lane to the wider countryside. The residential property and neighbouring 
property, Lowburn sit at a lower level to the field. A wire fence and number of 
sheds and trees form the common boundary with Lowburn to the north. 

      

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 This application has been submitted following an investigation by the 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Jane.Colley@highpeak.gov.uk


enforcement team concerning a complaint that the stables as erected did not 
comply with the plans approved under HPK/2017/0695. Planning consent was 
granted in March 2018 for the erection of a new stable building and new access 
track through the residential curtilage of the host dwelling, Millstone Willows. 

3.2 The stables have been installed on a concrete pad along with the approved 
access track, however a number of changes have been made to the stable 
building, which include: 

HPK/2017/0695 HPK/2018/0571 Difference
Floor Area (sq m) 97.68 95.46 -2.2m
Ridge Height (m) 3 3 0
Eaves Height 2.1 2.1 0
West Elevation 2 windows 1 window -1 window
South facing roof 
slope

No roof lights 3 roof lights 3 additional  roof 
lights

West facing roof 
slope 

No roof lights 2 roof lights 2 additional roof 
lights 

3.3 In addition to the stable building, to the north and east a gravelled hardstanding 
area has been laid linking to the approved access track to the west to the stables 
building. The plans approved under HPK/2017/0695 showed no hard standing 
surface in front of the stables.
       

3.4 The application and all details associated with it can be found on the Council’s 
website at:

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
229033 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The previous planning applications relating to the site are as follows:

HPK/2018/0610 – Proposed alteration to existing outbuilding (Domestic Store 
Building) to form home officer – Pending  

HPK/2017/0695 - Proposed stable building and access trackway – Approved 1st   
March 2018.

HPK/000/7416 – One two storey house and new stable to replace existing stable 
– Approved.

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan Adopted April 2016

Page 46

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=229033
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=229033


S 1 Sustainable Development Principles
S 1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
EQ2 Landscape Character
EQ3 Rural Development
EQ4 Green Belt Development
EQ 6 Design and Place Making
CF 6 Accessibility and Transport

National Planning Policy Framework (Revised July 2018) 

 2 Achieving Sustainable Development
 9 Protecting Green Belt Land
 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

  National Planning Practice Guidance

6.       CONSULTATIONS
 
Site notice Expiry date for comments: 28.12.2018
Press notice Expiry date for comments: N/A
Neighbours Expiry date for comments: 20.12.2018

Public Comments

One letter of objection, including accompanying photographs has been received raising 
the following concerns: 

 The unauthorised works have already been carried out. 
 The applicant has shown a cynical disregard for planning rules by carrying out 

the work without requesting permission, if approved it would set a precedent for 
future unauthorised work on green belt land. 

 Since the stables have been built, further noise has been generated from 
excavation machinery. During these works branches from the trees overhanging 
the boundary were removed and thrown back in our garden. 

 Lighting was installed which was not in accordance with the approved plans, 
although this has now been removed. 

 The applicant has now submitted an application for alterations to the existing 
stable building. We originally queried why this building could not be altered to 
accommodate the size of the applicants horses.    

 We still dispute the approval of the original application HPK/2017/0571 and are 
pursuing an appeal against the decision. 

 Impact on privacy and amenity
 Harm to the character and appearance of the area and specifically the green belt. 
 Unauthorised excavation and installation of hard surfacing on land immediately 

adjacent to the Lowburns boundary. 
 Surface water drainage would be affected by the hard surfacing, which is not 

indicated on the plans. 
 Unauthorised installation of new fencing and a gate. 

Page 47



 Unauthorised installation of a concrete block retaining wall, which was referred to 
as a new grassed bank on the original application. 

 The new trackway is used on a daily basis by motorised vehicles and used for 
parking. The track is within 100mm of our garden boundary and is an accident 
waiting to happen.

 40+ bales of hay have been stacked next to the rear boundary of our garden. The 
use of our garden is now restricted and which we had hoped to landscape and 
make full use of. 

 30 fatalities have occurred with some stacked hay bales in 2016-2017. 
Restrictions should be put in place and no stacking of anything should be 
adjacent to our garden boundary when we have young children. 

Consultee Comment Officer response
Highway Authority Refer to previous comments. No objection, 

subject to development remaining private 
and ancillary to Millstone Willows with no 
future sub letting or selling off. 

Chinley, Buxworth 
and Brownfield 
Parish Council

No objection. However we are aware of 
concerns raised by the immediate neighbour 
and we request that High Peak Borough 
Council ensure that the residential amenity 
of this neighbour is protected as far as is 
reasonably practicable. 

Severn Trent Water Awaiting comments 
Ramblers 
Association 

Awaiting comments

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be read in 
conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the Local Planning Authority to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are material 
considerations which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides that in determining 
applications the Local Planning Authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the 
Development Plan, so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan currently consists of the High Peak Local Plan 
Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Paragraph 11 of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
explains that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. For decision makers this means that when considering development 
proposals which accord with the development plan they should be approved without 

Page 48



delay; or where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of 
date, grant planning permission unless any adverse impacts would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against other parts of the NPPF.

7.4 Local Plan policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development as contained within the NPPF.

7.5 The Core Principles and overarching aims of the NPPF are set out in paragraph 
8 which, amongst other things, seek to proactively drive and support sustainable 
development in line with social, economic and environmental objectives.  The NPPF 
continues to require high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing 
and future occupants of land and buildings.

7.6 As noted above, planning permission was granted for the stables in March 2018, 
subject to a number of conditions. The applicant advised that they had a total of four 
horses, two of which were large horses (16 and 17 hands), therefore the size, scale and 
design of the stable building was needed to accommodate these requirements. This still 
remains the case. 

7.7 The conditions imposed under the earlier consent required the submission of details 
relating to the location, storage and disposal of manure, details of external lighting and 
the method of surface water disposal. These conditions were duly approved under 
DOC/2018/0027. The approved lighting comprises two 60watt bulbs on the eastern and 
northern elevations. With respect to drainage, a soakaway positioned beyond the 
southern elevation of the stables with a water butt capable of overspill into the 
soakaway was approved along with the location and storage of manure to the east of 
the stables. 

7.8 Since this time, the stables have been erected, along with the new access track 
through the garden of Millstone Willows, although some minor alterations have been 
made to the size and fenestration detailing as detailed in paragraph 3.1. Moreover, a 
new hardstanding area to the north and east of the stables has been installed linking the 
stables with the access track. 

Principle of development

7.9 The application site lies within the Green Belt and countryside whereby policies EQ3 
and EQ4 apply. Policy EQ3 supports equestrian uses in the countryside provided that it 
does not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of the area. Policy 
EQ4 sets out the need to maintain the openness of the Green Belt and supports 
development provided that it meets the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). 

7.10 Paragraph 145 of the NPPF states new buildings within the green belt should be 
regarded as inappropriate development, unless it meets one of the exceptions listed. 
One of those exceptions is facilities for outdoor recreation provided that it preserves the 
openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including land 
within it. Paragraph 143 explains that inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. 

Page 49



7.11 The proposals comprise facilities for outdoor recreation providing a number of 
stables, hay/feed store and tack room which are considered to be an appropriate form of 
development in the Green Belt. The amendments which have been made to the stable 
building in terms of its size (with a marginal decrease in footprint) and changes to the 
fenestration details are considered to be of a minor nature. The stables are a low level 
building which are positioned in one corner of the field adjacent to an existing stone 
wall, which forms the boundary with the public right of way and an existing beech hedge 
which forms the boundary to the residential curtilage of the host dwelling. Existing 
ground levels have been lowered in order to achieve a level surface, resulting in a 
building which sits low in the landscape. Given the size, scale and low level nature of 
the building, it is not considered that the openness of the Breen Belt would be injured.

7.12 The approved access track has been installed providing access to the stables via 
the existing residential garden of the host dwelling. Very limited engineering works were 
required to install the track, which comprises consolidated natural stone gravel with a 
central strip of grass.  

7.13 Paragraph 146 of NPPF also identifies other forms of development which are not 
considered to be inappropriate development provided that they preserve the openness 
of the green belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within the green 
belt. This includes engineering operations, which can involve the excavation of land and 
the installation of hard surfacing. The lying down of the hard surfacing, which covers an 
area of approximately 185 sq m, allows a consolidated surface to be provided between 
the stable building and the vehicular access to the west. Such hard surfacing and 
access tracks are commonly found in the Green Belt, providing access to fields, farms 
and other rural enterprises. Whilst an engineering operation was necessary to create 
the hard standing , its position, being at lower level that the adjacent field and public 
right and partly enclosed by the stables building ensures that surfacing does not harm 
openness of the Green Belt. 

7.14 Overall it is considered that the development comprises an appropriate form of 
development in the green belt which would not harm the openness of the green belt or 
conflict with the purposes of including land in the green belt and therefore complies with 
Policy EQ4.
 
Impact on the countryside/landscape

7.15 As noted above equestrian development is considered to be acceptable form of 
development in rural areas under Policy EQ3 provided that it does not harm the 
character and appearance of the area. Policy EQ2 sets out that the Council will protect, 
enhance and restore the landscape character for its intrinsic beauty and the economy, 
environmental and social well-being of the district. 

7.16 The site lies within the Settled Valleys Pasture Landscape Character Area as set 
out in the adopted Landscape Character Supplemental Planning Document (SPD). This 
landscape is noted for its scattered farmsteads, pastoral landscape with higher slopes of 
poor grazing, small irregular fields enclosed by mixed species hedgerows and 
occasional dry stone walls. The SPD advises that small scale development should be 
contained in simple and robust buildings with minimal detailing.   

7.17 The stables are a simple wooden building, with stable doors, one window and a 

Page 50



number of roof lights. The existing ground levels have been lowered to ensure that the 
building sits on a level surface, thereby limiting the visual effect of the building when 
viewed from the public footpath to south of the building. 

7.18 The siting, height and use of wooden materials in the stable building results in a 
structure which is not prominent in the landscape. Indeed with the presence of the stone 
boundary wall and beech hedge combined with the lowered ground levels, the stables 
are almost screened from wider views in the landscape. Wooden stables are a 
commonly found building in the landscape and countryside, therefore the siting of the 
building tucked into a corner of the existing field, surrounded by traditional boundary 
treatments, does not harm the landscape character of the area. 

7.19 The hardstanding area has been constructed of permeable natural stone, which 
although somewhat stark at the present time will darken over time. However with the 
stable building and hardstanding sitting below the height of the adjacent field, and 
significantly below the public right of way to the south, neither element is visually 
intrusive when viewed from the wider landscape. 
  
7.20 Accordingly, it is considered that the development would not harm the character 
and appearance of the landscape and therefore complies with Policies EQ2 and EQ3.

Impact on Residential Amenity

7.21 Policy EQ6 of the adopted Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development does 
not harm the amenities of existing and future residents, taking account of matters such 
as overlooking, the overbearing effects of development and visual intrusion. 

7.22 The stables are positioned to the south of the neighbouring property Lowburn, 
some 22m from the rear elevation of the property and 6m from the rear garden 
boundary at its closest point. Lowburn is a detached bungalow which is positioned on 
significantly lower ground levels than the application site. Within the rear garden of 
Lowburn are a number of garden sheds/outbuildings and trees and shrubs along the 
common boundary. Given the significant changes in ground levels and the presence of 
the boundary treatment and garden sheds, it is considered that the stables do not have 
an overbearing impact or cause any loss of light to the amenities of this neighbouring 
property.

7.23 The installed access track extends from the existing parking area to the front of the 
host dwelling, to its eastern side and within the garden area, beyond which the 
neighbouring property is located. It is acknowledged that the access is visible from a two 
side facing windows on the neighbouring property, some 13m from these windows. 
However its use would be solely by the owner of the horses and occasionally by 
vets/farriers. Although the installation of the vehicular access has been a noticeable 
visual change for the neighbours, it should be borne in mind that the location of access 
is wholly within the residential curtilage of the property, and therefore the day to day use 
of this garden area could cause general noise and disturbance. It is considered that the 
position of the access track would not have a substantially greater impact on their 
amenities of the neighbours than the present use of the land. 

7.24 The hard surfacing area which has been installed to the south of the neighbours 
rear garden boundary is entirely screened by the existing vegetation and outbuildings 

Page 51



found in the neighbours rear garden. Only glimpsed views of the stables can be seen. 
Whilst the location of the hard standing is immediately adjacent to the neighbours rear 
garden boundary, the presence of the trees and outbuildings provides a suitable screen 
to ensure that any vehicle movement or persons visiting the stables are not readily 
apparent.     

7.25 As with the earlier approval, and to ensure that the development is not intensively 
used beyond that associated with a domestic property, it is considered necessary to 
restrict the use of the stables, access track and hard standing surface to the applicant 
and for no commercial purposes. With the imposition of this condition, it is considered 
that the development would not harm the residential amenities of the neighbouring 
property and therefore meets the requirements of policy EQ6.   

Highway Safety

7.26 Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that new development can be safely accessed in a 
suitable manner. The stables would be accessed from the track through the residential 
curtilage of Millstone Willows approved under HPK/2017/0695. The field to the east also 
has a field entrance onto Beet Lane, which could be used by larger vehicles if 
necessary.   

7.27 There are no proposals to amend the means of access to the stables. The recently 
installed access track does not interfere with the existing car parking arrangements 
which serve the residential property, accordingly the development is not considered to 
harm the safe operation of the adjacent public highway and would meet the 
requirements of Policy CF6.

Other Matters

7.28 It is noted that concern has been raised about the installation of a gate into the 
adjacent field and wooden post and rail fencing along the field boundary, particularly as 
they have been omitted from the plans. As both means of enclosure do not exceed 2m 
in height, planning permission is not required for these elements and therefore are not 
required to be shown on the plans. 

7.29 The objector also raises safety concerns over the amount and location of bales of 
hay which are stored on the land. Again this element does not require planning consent. 
Whilst safety concerns are acknowledged, this is not a material planning consideration 
which can be addressed.   

7.30 A concrete wall has been installed along a small part of the eastern boundary of 
the site and immediately adjacent to the approved location for the storage of manure. 
This location for the storage of the manure was approved under the terms of condition 4 
of HPK/2017/0695 as it is the furthest point from the neighbouring property of Lowburn. 
Due to the lowering of the ground levels shown under the earlier application, the 
approved plans showed a gradual grassed bank to the east. The gradual slope has now 
been replaced with a concrete wall which partly encloses the manure store and is not a 
visible structure in the landscape. Accordingly, this aspect is considered to be 
acceptable in both amenity and landscape terms.    

Page 52



7.31 Application HPK/2018/610 relates to a stable building to the front of the property 
whereby it is proposed to convert the building to a home office.  During the course of the 
previous application, the applicant explained that this building was not suitable or large 
enough for the two larger horses, although at the time it was being used for the storage 
of hay and tack. As with all planning applications, this proposal will be assessed on its 
own merits. 

7.32 The external lighting which is now present on the stable building complies with the 
details approved under condition 5 of HPK/2017/0695, following the removal of a light 
on the northern elevation facing toward the neighbouring property. 

7.33 It is acknowledged that the changes which have been carried have been done 
without the benefit of planning consent. Whilst any breach of planning control cannot be 
condoned, guidance from Central Government is that enforcement action should be a 
last resort and should only be taken when it is expedient to do so. Councils are 
expected to give those responsible for a breach of planning control the opportunity to 
put matters right before resorting to formal action. In this case, the submission of this 
planning application seeks to regularise the breaches of planning control. 

Conclusions

7.34 The changes which have been incorporated into the stable building and the 
creation of the hardstanding are considered to be of a minor nature which amount to 
appropriate development in the Green Belt and do not reduce the openness of the 
Green Belt or conflict with the purposes of including land within. Moreover, the size, 
scale and use of materials in both the stable building and hardstanding area are of a 
traditional appearance which is sympathetic to the character of the landscape. The 
development is therefore considered to be appropriate development in the Green Belt 
which would not harm the character and distinctiveness of the landscape.  Accordingly 
the development comprises sustainable development and therefore it is recommended 
that planning consent be granted. 

  8.   RECOMMENDATIONS

A. It is recommended that the Committee APPROVE the application, subject to the 
conditions:

Conditions

Condition 
number

Brief description Comment

AP01 Development in accordance with 
approved plans

NSTD Stables, access road and hardstanding 
solely for the personal use of the 
applicant and no commercial purposes. 

NSTD Compliance with approved scheme for  
the location, storage and removal of 
manure

Page 53



NSTD Compliance with approved lighting 
scheme

NSTD Compliance with the approved surface 
water disposal scheme

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the 
Operations Manager - Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control Committee, provided 
that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

Informative

The development is considiered to be a sustinable form of development and therefore 
complies with the guidance contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 54



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

14th January 2019 

Application 
No:

HPK/2018/0352

Location Broadlow Farm, Longridge Lane, Peak Dale, SK17 8AE
Proposal Retrospective permission for erection of precast concrete 

sectional garden tool shed and timber stable/animal field 
shelter.

Applicant Mr Bentley
Agent N/A
Parish/ward Limestone Peak Date registered 17.08.2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Lisa Howard, Tel. 
01538 395400 extension 4923, lisa.howard@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE with conditions

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1  This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee as a result of an enforcement investigation.  

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 Broadlow Farm is found to the north east of Longridge Lane and forms 
one of two dwellings that are accessed via a shared driveway / track. The 
site occupies an elevated position and comprises a semi detached two 
storey dwellinghouse with an enclosed garden to the front, side and rear. 
The neighbouring property, Sweet Water Cottages, adjoins the application 
site to the west. Open grazing land is found to the north, east and south.

2.2 The application site is located within Countryside.  

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 This application has been submitted following an investigation by the 
enforcement team. Planning approval is sought retrospectively for the 
erection of a precast concrete sectional tool shed and a timber stable / 
animal shelter. The tool shed is positioned to the east of the 
dwellinghouse and measures 3m in depth, 2.6m in width and 2.1m in 
height. The stable / animal shelter is positioned adjacent to the tool shed, 
perpendicular to it. The stable / animal shelter comprises of two separate 
shelters one being slightly larger than the other. Cumulatively the structure 
measures 3.8m in depth, 6.2m in width and 2.3m in height.

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



3.2 The animal shelter lies wholly outside of the residential curtilage of the 
property, whereas the garden tool shed lies partly within the residential 
curtilage. Both structures are closely associated with the dwelling. 
 

3.3 The application, the details attached to it including the plans and the 
responses of the consultees can be found on the Council’s website at:

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServle
t?PKID=225569

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

There is no planning history relevant to the determination of this 
application.

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
EQ2 Landscape Character
EQ3 Rural Development
EQ6 – Design and Place Making
CF6 – Accessibility and Transport

National Planning Policy Framework

Paragraph 1 - 14

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 08 November 2018
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 18 September 2018
Press Notice N/A

Neighbours

Two representations raising objection have been received from the 
neighbouring property. The comments raised are detailed as follows:

I object to the positioning of the stables and feed shed as they are 
unsightly and not in keeping with other agricultural buildings in the area. 
They are also too close to their septic tank which is frequently overflowing 
adding a risk to animal welfare. A midden they formed six foot from our 
back door created excessive smell and horseflies to hover around the 
door.

Page 56

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=225569
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=225569


Matthew Rhodes from the Environmental Health visited and served a 
notice to remove the manure which they only moved a few feet away 
which didn’t resolve the problem of the flies. There needs to be a 
dedicated area made to place manure away from our property, in the feed 
store which is a precast shed which we have seen vermin around it. The 
view down the valley has been ruined as we only see the back of these 
buildings.

I object to the position of the two stables as they are too close to my back 
door and windows of my house. There is a risk of rats and mince coming 
out of their stables and precast shed which stores there animal feed.

There is no dedicated area for the manure from the stables.

The stables need to be relocated away from the house with a new area to 
store animal feed in.

After the hot summer we have had this year the smell and infestation of 
flies coming from the stables and surrounding area prevented use from 
having any doors or windows open for ventilation, I consider this a health 
hazard. This has spoilt the view from our lounge window, as all we can see 
is the unsightly sheds/stables.

Consultee Comment Officer response

Environmental 
Health

No objection, subject to the 
following condition:
1. Manure Storage – Animal 
manure associated with the use 
of the development shall not be 
stored within 25 meters of any 
residential property, or within 50 
meters of any private water 
supply source (spring, borehole 
head works, etc). Reason:- To 
protect amenity, with regard to 
flies and odour; and to protect 
public health.

Wormhill and 
Green Fairfield 
Parish Council 

No objection.

DCC Highways 
Authority

No objection subject to the 
development remaining ancillary 
to agricultural operations of 
Broadlow Farm and surrounding 
tied land only with no future sub-
letting or selling off.

Page 57



7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to 
be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there 
are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides 
that in determining applications the local planning authority "shall have regard 
to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application 
and to any other material considerations." The Development Plan currently 
consists of the High Peak Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains that at the heart of the Framework is the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision makers this 
means that when considering development proposals which accord with the 
development plan, they should be approved without delay, but where the 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, grant 
planning permission unless any adverse impacts would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF taken as a whole.

7.4 Local Plan policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as contained within the NPPF.

Principle of Development

7.5 The National Planning Policy Framework outlines the importance of the 
conservation and enhancement of the natural environment; and, the built and 
historic environment, including landscapes. 

7.6 Local Plan policy EQ3 relates to rural development outside the 
settlement boundaries and sites allocated for development as defined on the 
Policies Map. Within these areas the Council will seek to ensure that new 
development is strictly controlled in order to protect the landscape’s intrinsic 
character, appearance and integrity of the historic and cultural environment 
and the setting of the Peak District National Park whilst also facilitating 
sustainable rural community needs, tourism and economic development. 
Policy EQ3 supports the provision of equestrian development where it does 
not have an adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the area. 
Proposals for agricultural related development will also be supported.

7.7 Local plan policy EQ2 relates to landscape character and seeks to 
protect, enhance and restore the landscape character of the Plan Area for its 

Page 58



own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to the economic, environmental and 
social well-being of the Plan Area. This will be achieved by, amongst others, 
requiring that development proposals are infirmed by, and are sympathetic to, 
the distinctive landscape character areas identified in the Landscape 
Character Supplementary Planning Document (SPD); and, resisting 
development which would harm or be detrimental to the character of the local 
and wider landscape or setting.  

7.8 In accordance with the Landscape Character SPD the site falls within 
‘Plateau Pastures’, which is characterised as a gently rolling limestone 
plateau. The landscape is settled, with small hamlets and villages that have 
historically evolved from agriculture and quarrying. There are also scattered 
individual buildings with trees around dwellings, separating them from work 
buildings. The dominant building material is limestone with gritstone detailing. 
Properties are enclosed by low drystone walls which are valuable in 
connecting the built form with the wider landscape which is characterised by 
stone wall field boundaries. In some parts of the area there are non-traditional 
buildings in the form of rural workers cottages and small scale industry, these 
are not sympathetic to the landscape or traditional building style.

7.9 The animal shelter is considered to be acceptable in principle being a form 
of development which Policy EQ3 supports. Although the garden tool shed 
lies partly outside of the residential curtilage of the dwelling, it is positioned in 
between the eastern elevation of the property and the animal shelter, having a 
close and direct association with the dwelling itself. Given the size and scale 
of the garden tool shed it is considered that it would not extend beyond the 
curtilage to such a degree as to be visually harmful addition in the 
countryside. Accordingly it is considered that the principle of development is 
acceptable subject to design and landscape considerations.      

Design and Landscape Impact 

7.10 In accordance with policy EQ6 all new development should be well 
designed and of a high quality that responds positively to the environment. 
Objection has been raised on the grounds that the buildings are unsightly and 
spoil views from across the valley.

7.11 The structures are positioned directly to the east of the dwellinghouse 
and are closely associated to it. Long range views of the structures are read in 
context of the site as whole, including the neighbouring site which itself 
comprises of a number of significantly larger agricultural buildings and sheds. 
In accordance with the identified landscape characteristics outlined in the 
Landscape Character SPD the site benefits from a small group of trees that 
are positioned east of the application dwelling and serve to mitigate against 
any landscape harm. Stabling is a common form of development found within 
rural areas owing to its purpose and it is therefore not considered that the 
development appears incongruous in nature. 

7.12 The scale and nature of development is not considered to cause 
detrimental harm to landscape character, particularly when viewed in the 

Page 59



context of Broadlow Farm and Sweet Water Cottages as a whole. As such 
this application is considered to accord with the Local Plan policies EQ2, EQ3 
and EQ6.  

Amenity

7.13 Local Plan policy EQ6 requires that development achieves a 
satisfactory relationship to adjacent development and not cause unacceptable 
effects by reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shadowing, overbearing 
effect, noise, light pollution or other adverse impacts on local amenity. 

7.14 Objection has been raised in respect of the proximity of a midden 
relative to the door of the neighbouring property. Objection has also been 
raised on the grounds of the view from a neighbouring lounge window. 
Reference has also been made in respect of mice and rats (vermin).

7.15 The shed and animal shelter / stable are positioned no less than 20m 
to the north east of the affected elevation of the neighbouring dwellinghouse 
and lounge window. Land falls away to the north east and as such the 
structures sit on a lower ground level to that of Sweet Water Cottages. Taking 
this into account in addition to the modest scale of the structures it is not 
considered that the development leads to unacceptable effects by reason of 
visual intrusion or overbearing effect.

7.16 At the time of the case officer site visit there was no evidence of the 
midden referenced in the objection. However, Environmental Health officers 
have verbally confirmed that they did receive a complaint and the midden was 
subsequently removed following the issue of a Community Protection Warning 
Notice. The Environmental Health officer has raised no objection to this 
application, subject to a condition that requires all manure associated with the 
use to be stored 25m away from residential dwellings and 50m from a spring 
or bore hole.   This is considered reasonable and in accordance with NPPF 
paragraph 55. 

7.17 Reference has been made to sightings of mice and rats around the 
area of the structures. Broadlow Farm is a small holding and Sweet Water 
Cottages is an operational farm. It is not unusual to see mice or rats in such 
circumstances. Pest control is a matter for Environmental Health, who 
consider that there are no environmental health grounds to raise objection to 
the development. 

7.18 For the reasons outlined. The impact upon the amenity of the 
neighbouring property is considered to accord with Local Plan policy EQ6 and 
the NPPF.

Highway Safety

7.19 The application site is accessed via a single lane shared access track 
that leads from Longridge Lane. There are no proposals to amend the means 
of access to the site. Derbyshire County Council Highway Authority has been 

Page 60



consulted on this application and raise no objection subject to a condition that 
prevents the structures being sub-let or sold off. 

Planning Balance & Conclusion

7.20 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. In accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, this means that 
local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area and approve development proposals that 
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay. 

7.21 The shed and animal shelter are considered to be of an acceptable 
design, scale and siting to not lead to significant harm to landscape character. 
Furthermore, the development is not considered to lead to unacceptable 
impacts to residential amenity. Subject to appropriately worded conditions in 
respect of the positioning of the associated manure heap and the use of the 
structures being restricted to private use only, this application is considered to 
accord with the policies contained in the High Peak Local Plan 2016, the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Landscape Character SPD; 
accordingly it is recommended that planning permission be granted.  

        8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. APPROVE, subject to the following conditions;

Condition number Brief description Comment
NSTD Manure Storage – 

Animal manure 
associated with the use 
of the development shall 
not be stored within 25 
meters of any residential 
property, or within 50 
meters of any private 
water supply source

NSTD The development shall 
remain ancillary to the 
operations of Broadlow 
Farm and surrounding 
tied land only with no 
future sub-letting or 
selling off.

AP01 Development in 
accordance with 
approved plans 

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 

Page 61



Manager – Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the Case Officer 
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Site plan

Page 62



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 14th January 2019

Application 
No:

HPK/2018/0501

Location Lime Tree Park, Dukes Drive, Buxton
Proposal Change of use of land for extension to existing camp site to 

include the siting of 21 static caravans
Applicant Mr R Hidderley
Agent Mr C Timothy, CT Planning
Parish/ward Cote Heath Ward Date registered  05 October 2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Mark 
Ollerenshaw, Mark.Ollerenshaw@highpeak.gov.uk  01538 395400 ext. 4921 

REFERRAL

The application has been referred to committee as it is a major 
development.

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The site comprises a roughly square shaped field which in area 
extends to 1.88 hectares and is located to the east of Lime Tree Holiday 
Park. The site slopes upwards from north to south and is bounded by a 
combination of drystone walls and fencing.

2.2 A public right of way runs through the site: HP18/1/1 connecting 
Dukes Drive to Staden Lane.

2.3 The site is outside the built up area boundary of Buxton within land 
designated in the Local Plan as Open Countryside and the Landscape 
Character Area is Plateau Pastures. Ashwood Dale is located immediately 
to the north of the site and is subject to a number of designations, including 
Ancient Woodland, Tree Preservation Order, Local Wildlife Site and 
Regionally Important Geological Site.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 Full planning permission is sought for a change of use of the land to 
a camping and caravan site as an extension to the existing camping and 
caravan site at Lime Tree Park together with associated engineering works. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Mark.Ollerenshaw@highpeak.gov.uk


3.2 Planning permission was granted in October 2017 (Ref. 
HPK/2017/0367) for an extension of the existing camping and caravan site 
to provide 21 no. touring caravan pitches and camping areas. The current 
application proposes that the 21 no. caravans be static. i.e. be available as 
self catering accommodation 365 days per year. As with the previous 
scheme, the surrounding land will be available as additional pitches for 
tents. 

3.3 Parts of the site would be excavated to create level areas. The newly 
created terraced banks would be planted with native trees. Existing 
boundaries around the site would be retained. The application indicates the 
locations of the proposed static caravans on ground reinforced mesh. Each 
caravan pitch would benefit from a below ground surface grey water tank. 
Grassed areas for camping pitches are provided to the north, east and 
south of the site. A 20 metre buffer zone is proposed at the north end of the 
site which would be planted with locally native trees and shrubs to match 
the existing woodland.

3.4 A circular access road would be created through the site and this 
would partly follow the line of the existing public right of way. The road 
would cross diagonally across the field, looping back to a lower terrace and 
exiting the field through a new gateway.

3.5 The application, the details attached to it, including the plans, 
comments made by residents and the responses of the consultees can be 
found on the Council’s website at:

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?P
KID=227950

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The following is a summary of previous planning applications relating 
to the site.

HPK/2017/0367 – Change of use of land for extension to existing camp site 
– Approved 31/10/2017.

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?P
KID=217331

HPK/0003/6049 – Conversion of part of existing wardens dwelling into 
holiday flat – Approved 06/06/1997.

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?P
KID=27985

HPK/0003/5866 – Extensions to existing toilet block – Approved 
17/12/1996.

Page 64

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=227950
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=227950
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=217331
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=217331
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=27985
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=27985


http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?P
KID=27619

HPK/0003/4914 – Increase touring site from 30 to 64; erection of one new 
toilet block and implement store. Extend season to 11 months – Refused on 
07/11/1995 but allowed on appeal.

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?P
KID=25715

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 – Sustainable Development Principles
S1a – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 – Settlement Hierarchy
S4 – Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base
S7 – Buxton sub area strategy
EQ1 – Climate Change
EQ2 – Landscape Character
EQ3 – Rural Development
EQ5 – Biodiversity
EQ6 – Design and Place Making
EQ8 – Green Infrastructure
EQ9 – Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows
EQ10 – Pollution Control and Unstable Land
EQ11 – Flood Risk Management
E6 – Promoting Peak District Tourism and Culture
E7 – Chalet Accommodation, Caravan and Camp Site Developments
CF6 – Accessibility and Transport

National Planning Policy Framework

Para 14 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Para 17 Core Planning Principles 
Section 1 Building a Strong, Competitive Economy
Section 3 Supporting a prosperous rural economy 
Section 4 Promoting Sustainable Transport 
Section 7 Requiring Good Design
Section 10 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding & coastal 
change
Section 11 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

End of Consultation Period

15 November 2018

Page 65

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=27619
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=27619
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=25715
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=25715


Neighbours

No representations have been received.

Consultations

Consultee Comment Officer 
response

King Sterndale 
Parish Council

No comments received.

Highway 
Authority

Refer to previous response dated 24 
August 2017 relating to similar 
proposals Ref. HPK/2017/0367, which 
was subsequently approved.

The revised layout is noted and advise 
that the highway comments remain as 
previously stated and are repeated 
below for avoidance of doubt:

On the basis that the proposed 
additional camp site area is ancillary 
to existing operations this Authority 
would not wish to raise objections.  
Please advise the applicant that a 
public right of way runs through the 
area and pedestrians using this route 
must not be obstructed either during 
any construction works or once 
operational.

Recommends inclusion of an 
informative note concerning the right 
of way.

Paras 7.20 
– 7.23

Environmental 
Health

No comments received.
 

Severn Trent 
Water Ltd

No comments received.

Arboricultural 
Officer

Comments on previous application 
HPK/2017/0367 remain applicable. 
These were as follows:

No objections. The woodland to the 
north is an ancient woodland and 

Paras 7.12 
– 7.16

Page 66



should be afforded protection. The use 
of a 20m construction exclusion zone 
should be a condition of approval. The 
planting of a woodland buffer zone in 
this region is a good design feature. 
The tree species will need to be 
agreed. Recommend conditions 
requiring landscaping scheme and 
implementation, tree protection 
condition and supports the LEMP 
condition recommended by DWT.

Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust

The Ecological Appraisal and the 
Masterplan for the site provide 
sufficient information to determine the 
application. The site appears of 
relatively low ecological value. DWT 
welcome the proposed buffer zone to 
the adjacent woodland as this 
comprises ancient semi-natural ash 
woodland, which is designated as a 
Local Wildlife Site. The width of the 
buffer and suggested native tree 
planting is considered appropriate. 

Recommend conditions covering the 
following:

 The development shall proceed 
in accordance with the 
Masterplan to provide 
ecological enhancements 
including bat and bird boxes.

 A Construction Environmental 
Management Plan shall be 
submitted for approval.

 A detailed lighting strategy shall 
be submitted to and approved 
by the LPA to safeguard the 
functionality of the adjacent 
woodland for bats.

Paras 7.12 
– 7.16

Waste (HPBC) No objection.

Peak & Northern 
Footpaths 
Society

The Masterplan appears to indicate 
that the existing public footpath across 
what is currently a pasture field, will 
bisect the proposed location of the 21 
static caravans. However, there 
should be no conflict between site 
users and footpath users. There 

Paras 7.22 
– 7.23

Page 67



needs to be clear signage which alerts 
site users to the presence of the public 
footpath. Site users will no doubt be 
car users and there must be no 
danger to path users from moving 
vehicles or parked vehicles on or 
close to the footpath. Vehicle speeds 
must be minimal within the site to 
minimise the dangers to pedestrians.

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Planning policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is 
to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) 
provides that in determining applications the local planning authority "shall 
have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to 
the application and to any other material considerations." The Development 
Plan consists of the High Peak Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains that at the heart of the Framework is 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision makers 
this means that when considering development proposals which accord 
with the development plan, they should be approved without delay, but 
where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of 
date, grant planning permission unless any adverse impacts would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

7.4 Local Plan policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as contained within the NPPF.

Principle of development

7.5 The site lies within the Open Countryside outside the built up area 
boundary of Buxton. Policy EQ3 of the Local Plan supports the provision 
and expansion of tourist and visitor facilities in sustainable locations where 
identified needs are not met by existing facilities. The proposal would 
support an existing rural business, support tourism in the area and 

Page 68



increased spending in the local economy from visitors. Although it is 
situated in the Open Countryside, the site benefits from having relatively 
good connectivity to Buxton Town Centre and is in a reasonably 
sustainable location for this type of use. The site is also ideally situated in 
terms of access to the Peak District and the development would support 
Peak District tourism in accordance with Policy E6 of the Local Plan. 

7.6 Local Plan Policy E7 permits development proposals involving 
caravan and camp sites subject to the development having no adverse 
impact on the landscape and subject to the proposal being well screened.

7.7 As with the previous application granted permission in October 2017, 
it is considered that the principle of the proposed development is 
acceptable subject to consideration of the impact on the character of the 
landscape / open countryside and any other material considerations.

Impact on Visual Amenity of the Countryside

7.8 Policy EQ3 states that outside the settlement boundaries and sites 
allocated for development as defined on the Policies Map, including the 
Green Belt, the Council will seek to ensure that new development is strictly 
controlled in order to protect the landscape's intrinsic character and 
distinctiveness, including the character, appearance and integrity of the 
historic and cultural environment and the setting of the Peak District 
National Park whilst also facilitating sustainable rural community needs, 
tourism and economic development. 

7.9 Policy E7 permits development proposals involving caravan and 
camp sites where:
1. The development would not have a prominent and adverse impact on the 
character and appearance of the immediate or wider landscape and;
2. Any visual impact would be well screened by existing landscape features 
for the whole of its proposed operating season and;
3. Any permanent structures would not be visible even during winter 
months when viewed from areas outside the site to which the public has 
access.

7.10 As part of the assessment of the previous application proposal it was 
concluded that the site is not unduly prominent in the surrounding 
landscape given the topography of the area and it benefits from screening 
in views from the north by the extensive area of woodland. The current 
proposal is similar to the previous scheme in that the total number of 
caravans on site would still be a maximum of 21 with the principal 
difference being that the caravans are now proposed to be static rather 
than touring caravans, as previously approved.  The overall visual impact, 
however, is likely to be of a similar nature albeit the static caravans now 
proposed will be present on site throughout the year. The proposed use of 
the site for caravans and camping together with the proposed engineering 
works will clearly change views from the public footpath running through the 
site. However, the site is physically well related to the existing holiday park 

Page 69



and camp site to the west and the proposals will be seen largely in that 
context. The proposals for native tree and hedge planting within the site 
together with the woodland buffer strip to the north will soften the 
development and enhance biodiversity. The creation of the terraced banks 
within the site will provide screening of the caravans in views from the south 
as the caravans will be set below the banks. It is accepted that relatively 
significant engineering works are required to level parts of the site, but the 
terraced banks would be planted with native trees whilst the levelled areas 
would be laid with grass covered ground reinforcement mesh. Existing dry 
stone walls around the site would be retained. A separate planning 
application would be required for any new structures on the site such as a 
utility block.

7.11 In summary, it is considered that the proposed development would 
not have a prominent and adverse impact on the character of the landscape 
and will be well screened by existing landscape features as well as 
proposed landscaping. The proposed development thereby accords with 
Policies EQ2, EQ3 and E7 of the Local Plan.

Biodiversity and Tree Protection

7.12 Policy EQ5 seeks to conserve and enhance biodiversity and 
geological resources, including locally designated sites. The Council will not 
permit any development proposal which would directly or indirectly result in 
significant harm to geological and biodiversity conservation interests, 
unless there is no appropriate alternative site available; and all statutory 
and regulatory requirements have been satisfied; and appropriate 
conservation and mitigation measures are provided.

7.13 The site is located immediately adjacent to Ashwood Dale Local 
Wildlife Site. The submitted Ecological Appraisal states that the site is 
generally of low ecological value. The field survey has identified that the 
site supports semi-improved grassland with boundary dry stone walls and 
tall ruderal vegetation. DWT advises that adequate survey work has been 
undertaken for this planning application to be determined and conditions 
are recommended, including the need for ecological enhancements (e.g. 
bat and bird boxes), submission of a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan to minimise disturbance to wildlife during the 
construction phase and submission of a detailed lighting strategy to 
safeguard the functionality of the adjacent woodland for roosting and 
foraging bats. Subject to these conditions, it is considered that there would 
be adequate safeguards in place to protect ecological interests. The 
additional landscaping presents an opportunity to improve the site in terms 
of biodiversity.

7.14 Policy EQ9 of the Local Plan affords protection to existing trees, 
woodlands and hedgerows, in particular, ancient woodland, veteran trees 
and ancient or species-rich hedgerows from loss or deterioration. This will 
be achieved by requiring that existing woodlands, healthy, mature trees and 
hedgerows are retained and integrated within a proposed development 

Page 70



unless the need for, and benefits of, the development clearly outweigh their 
loss.

7.15 The Council’s Arboricultural Officer does not object to this application 
subject to tree protection measures and the need for appropriate 
landscaping (native tree planting). It is considered that the 20 metre 
construction exclusion zone will ensure protection of the adjoining Ancient 
Woodland.

7.16 Subject to the conditions recommended by DWT and the 
Arboricultural Officer, the proposals would not adversely affect trees or 
ecological interests on the site and the development thereby complies with 
Policies EQ5 and EQ9 of the Local Plan.

Amenity

7.17 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF requires a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  Policy EQ6 of the 
Local Plan requires new development to achieve a satisfactory relationship 
to adjacent occupiers to ensure that the amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
will not be compromised, thus reflecting the requirements of paragraph 17 
of the Framework.

7.18 There is a neighbouring dwelling and chalets on the holiday park to 
the west. The nearest dwelling is The Glen, which is approximately 70m to 
the west. There are also residential properties located off Staden Lane to 
the south and these are approximately 260m away from the site. Given the 
separation distances involved, it is considered that no neighbouring 
properties would be adversely affected.

7.19 It is therefore considered that the proposal accords with paragraph 
17 of the NPPF and Policy EQ6 in this regard.

Highway and Parking Considerations

7.20 The NPPF promotes sustainable transport and recommends that 
local planning authorities seek to encourage and facilitate where possible 
sustainable patterns of transport using practical alternatives to private 
motor vehicles so that people have a real choice about how they travel. 
Policy CF6 of the Local Plan requires the site to be accessed safely.

7.21 The proposed development will utilise the existing vehicular access 
from Lime Tree Park and Dukes Drive. The site layout can accommodate 
approx. 21 caravans with sufficient separation distance allowing sufficient 
space in between caravans for vehicle parking. County Highways do not 
object to the proposed development on the basis that it is ancillary to 
existing operations on the holiday park.

7.22 The existing public footpath (Footpath No. 1 Parish of King 
Sterndale) through the site would be retained and improved. The Peak and 

Page 71



Northern Footpaths Society emphasises that there should be no conflict 
between site users and users of the public footpath running through the site 
and recommends clear signage which alerts site users to the presence of 
the public footpath and vehicle speeds within the site must be minimal to 
minimise the danger to pedestrians.  It is considered that this matter can be 
addressed through the provision of signage indicating the route of the 
footpath through the site, details of which can be agreed by means of a 
condition attached to the recommendation.

7.23 Given the above, it is reasonable to conclude that there would not be 
a significant adverse impact on the local road network, and subject to the 
condition referred to above, the risk to users of the public footpath would be 
minimised. The proposal therefore complies with the provisions of Section 4 
of the NPPF and policy CF6 of the adopted Local Plan in this regard.

Flood Risk / Drainage

7.24 The site does not lie within a designated high flood risk area. It is not 
considered that the proposed development would increase flood risk nor is 
it vulnerable to flooding and as such would comply with Local Plan Policy 
EQ11.

7.25 As part of the previous application, the Environmental Health Officer 
advised that the application was silent as to the method of sewage disposal 
at the site and a condition was therefore attached requiring an assessment 
of the adequacy of the existing sewage disposal system. This remains the 
case with the current application and the same condition is recommended 
again.

8. CONCLUSION AND PLANNING BALANCE

8.1 The starting point for the determination of any planning application is 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is 
to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. Section 38(6) states that planning applications should 
be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless there are 
material considerations which indicate otherwise. In this instance the High 
Peak Local Plan 2016 is the adopted Development Plan for the area.

8.2 The site is within the Open Countryside. Local Plan Policy EQ3 
applies. Whilst it is acknowledged that there will be some limited harm to 
the landscape due to the proposed engineering works and the presence of 
caravans, the proposals would be seen in the context of the existing holiday 
park and caravan pitches. Whilst there would be local landscape impacts 
arising from the engineering works when viewed from the site and the 
immediate surroundings, such works will help to reduce the wider 
landscape impacts by setting the caravans down into the hillside.  The 
proposals would bring economic and social benefits to the area, in terms of 
improving visitor accommodation within the area and increased spending in 
the local economy, thereby supporting tourism in Buxton and the Peak 

Page 72



District. Any harm in landscape terms which does occur could be mitigated 
by a detailed a landscaping scheme and it is considered that this limited 
measure of harm is clearly and demonstrably outweighed by the benefits 
the proposals would bring in relation to supporting tourism and the local 
economy. Furthermore conditions can be imposed to restrict the use of the 
site, protect trees and biodiversity interests, address pedestrian safety 
concerns and reduce the visual impact of the development. Accordingly, it 
is considered that the proposal complies with the requirements of local plan 
policy and the NPPF, and having regard to all other material considerations 
raised it is recommended for approval.

9. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. APPROVE, subject to the following conditions:

Condition number Brief description Comment

TL01 3 year time limit

AP01 Approved plans

NSTD Restriction on the number of 
caravans on site at any one 
time to 21.

NSTD The occupation of the 
caravans must solely be for 
tourism or recreation only and 
not for permanent residential 
use.

NSTD Landscaping scheme to be 
submitted and agreed

LA02 Landscaping scheme to be 
carried out and maintained.

LA12 Tree Protection measures

NSTD Development to proceed in 
accordance with the Master 
Plan to provide ecological 
enhancements, including 
installation of bat and bird 
boxes.

NSTD Submission of a Construction 
Environmental Management 
Plan.

Page 73



NSTD Submission of a detailed 
lighting strategy to safeguard 
the functionality of the 
adjacent woodland for 
roosting and foraging bats.

NSTD Submission of an 
assessment to demonstrate 
adequate sewage disposal

NSTD Submission of surface water 
drainage scheme

NSTD Submission of a scheme for 
provision of appropriate 
signage relating to the route 
of the public footpath through 
the site.  

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager – Development Services be delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

Informative

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the 
issues raised through the application process and thorough discussion with 
the applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the Case 
Officer has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that 
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Site Plan
     

Page 74



Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 14th January 2019 

Application 
No: HPK/2018/0492

Location Community Field, Park Avenue, Furness Vale
Proposal New Changing Rooms and associated facilities
Applicant Mr Phillip Lomas
Agent N/A
Parish/ward Whaley Bridge / Whaley Bridge Date registered 15th 

October 2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: James Stannard, 
Tel. 01298 28400 extension 4298, james.stannard@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve with Conditions

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee because the site is owned by High Peak Borough Council.

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site comprises a small parcel of land on the Community 
Playing Field, Furness Vale, which includes a full size football pitch, 
used by the local football club, on the northern part of the playing field.  
The southern part of the playing field features open amenity space, and 
a series of public footpaths.

2.2 The access to the site is from Park Avenue, a small residential street 
which terminates at the western boundary. The site is bounded by 
open agricultural land to the south and east, well screened by mature 
vegetation. To the south west, are the rear elevations of properties on 
Park Crescent. The north western boundary is defined by a public 
footpath and is also well screened by mature trees.

2.3 The playing field has been landscaped so that the football pitch is sat 
on lower flat ground, with the paths and amenity grassland sat at a 
slightly higher level.

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 The application seeks planning permission for a new changing rooms 
facility building ancillary to the football pitch, which would be used by 
Furness Vale Football Club. 

3.2 The building would be sited adjacent to the football pitch on its 
southern side, close to the entrance with Park Avenue. The Proposed 
Block Plan shows the building as having a square form which consists 
of two team changing rooms ‘A’ and ‘B’, each with four showers and 
two WC’s; two official’s changing room; a meeting room bar/café with a 
drinks counter; and storage.

3.3 The building would span a width of approximately 12 metres and a 
length of 13 metres, with an eaves height of 2.5 metres and an overall 
ridge height of 4.1 metres. The building would be constructed of a 
natural stone with a dual pitch slate roof, with a small canopy area on 
the north eastern elevation facing the pitch. 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The playing field has been subject to the following planning history:

HPK/2015/0083 Proposed construction of new paths and enlarged 
bays to accommodate benches and wheelchairs to 
the perimeter of the existing playing field - 
Approved 3rd June 2015)

HPK/2017/0016 Proposed construction of new paths complete with 
areas for benches and wheelchairs, and outdoor 
gym equipment - Approved 14th March 2017

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S7 Buxton Sub-area Strategy
EQ6 Design and Place Making
CF5 Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and Facilities

National Planning Policy Framework

Achieving Sustainable Development Chapter 2
Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities Chapter 8
Achieving Well Designed Places Chapter 12

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Page 78



Site notice Expiry date for comments:  23rd November 2018

Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 14th November 2018

Press Notice N/A

Neighbours

6.1 No representations have been received with regards to this application

Consultee Comment

Whaley Bridge 
Town Council

Strongly supports application

United 
Utilities

No objection subject to a condition requiring that foul and 
surface water shall be drained on separate systems

HPBC 
Environmental 
Health

No objection subject to condition requiring a drainage 
feasibility study to be submitted and approved prior to 
commencement of development.

DCC 
Highways 
(First 
response) 

The proposed building will be located on the community 
field with the main access to the site being via Park 
Avenue, a residential street in Furness Vale.

As you will be aware, there is already a football pitch on 
the site although it is unclear as to the current usage. The 
pitch is likely to generate a certain level of vehicular 
traffic, particularly when used for adult matches, this may 
currently be the case or at least have the potential.

Limited information has been provided as part of the 
planning application with regard to the intended use of 
the proposed facilities. Although it is considered the 
provision of changing facilities has the potential to 
increase the use of the existing football pitch. In addition 
to the above the proposal also shows a bar/café and 
kitchen being provided. Such facilities have the potential 
to further increase vehicular activity associated with the 
site.

In view of the above, and in accordance with parking 
recommendations it is considered 15 parking spaces 
should be provided within the site, as currently no off-
street parking is provided. Each space measuring a 
minimum of 2.4m x 4.8m and sufficient space being 
provided within the site to enable vehicles to manoeuvre 

Page 79



so as to both enter and exit the site in forward gear.

Further to the above, vehicular access onto the wider 
highway network would be via the junction of Park 
Avenue with Yeardsley Lane, which is substandard in 
terms of emerging visibility, with little scope for 
improvement without control of third party land. 
Accordingly the Highway Authority would be unlikely to 
be in favour of any proposal that would materially 
increase use of the site.

In view of the above, the Highway Authority would 
request additional information to assess the likelihood of 
the facilities having an impact on the adjacent highway 
network.

Accordingly, before making my formal recommendations 
I would be obliged if you could ask the applicant to revise 
the proposal in view of the above comments and in the 
meantime please hold the application in abeyance until 
revised plans and additional information have been 
submitted.

DCC 
Highways 
(Revised 
Comments)

There are no highway objections to the above planning 
application based on the changing rooms and associated 
facilities remaining ancillary to the playing fields and not 
open to the general public in perpetuity.

7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 
70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan consists of the High Peak 
Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains that at the heart of the Framework 

Page 80



is the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision 
makers this means that when considering development proposals 
which accord with the development plan, they should be approved 
without delay, but where the development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out of date, grant planning permission unless any 
adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole.

7.4 Local Plan policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as contained within the NPPF.

Principle of Development

7.5 The application seeks permission for a new changing room’s facility 
ancillary to an existing football pitch, enhancing the existing 
recreational use. Policy CF5 seeks to maintain and improve the 
provision of local community services and facilities. New facilities 
should be preferably located within defined built up areas where they 
are most accessible. Although the site lies outside the built up area 
boundary, it would be directly associated the existing sport pitch and 
located where the local community can easily access the facility and 
well connected to the existing settlement of Furness Vale.  

7.6 The principle of development is therefore considered to be acceptable 
subject to the application demonstrating compliance with Policies EQ3, 
EQ6 and CF5 and all other material considerations.

Design 

7.7 Local Plan Policy S1 of the adopted local plan sets out a number of 
sustainability principles which all new development proposals should 
incorporate in order to make a positive contribution towards the 
sustainability of communities and to protect, and where possible 
enhance the environment.

7.8 Local Plan Policy EQ6 of the adopted local plan states that all 
development should be well designed to respect and contribute 
positively to the character, identity and context of High Peak’s 
townscapes, in terms of scale, height, density, and layout.

7.9 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure that 
developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of development; 
are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping; and are sympathetic to local 
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting

Page 81



7.10 Following the receipt of the revised plans which show an amendment 
to increase the pitch of the roof, and thereby an improved design, the 
proposed changing room facility is considered to be of an appropriate 
scale, layout and height which is proportionate to the site and its 
intended use. The building would be constructed of a traditional stone 
with a dual pitch slate roof which is considered to reflect the general 
character of the area, thereby complimenting the character and  
appearance of the rural area, in line with Local Plan Policy EQ6 and 
paragraph 127 of the NPPF. 

Amenity

7.11 Local Plan Policy EQ6 outlines that developments should achieve a 
satisfactory relationship to adjacent development and not cause 
unacceptable effects including light pollution, overlooking, loss of 
privacy and other adverse impacts on local amenity. Paragraph 127 of 
the NPPF requires all developments to secure a high standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.

7.12 The changing room facilities would be positioned in excess of 35m 
from the closest residential properties on Park Crescent, which sit in an 
elevation positioned overlooking the sport pitch. Given this distance 
there would be no overbearing impacts on the neighbouring properties. 
The western and southern elevation contains a number of high level 
windows, which serve the toilets and showers. Although the building 
would be positioned close to the footpaths which run around the 
proposed building, the windows would have no adverse impact on the 
users of the footpath given that they are high level. With respect to the 
neighbouring properties, a distance in excess of 35m is considered 
sufficient to prevent any overlooking or loss of privacy.   

7.13 Due to the substantial distance to the nearest neighbouring properties, 
it is considered that there would be no adverse impacts on residential 
amenity and accordingly the development would meet the 
requirements of Policy EQ6.

Highway Safety

7.14 Local Plan Policy CF6 of the adopted local plan seeks to ensure that 
development can be safely accessed in a sustainable manner and that 
all new development is located where it can satisfactorily 
accommodated within the existing highway network.

7.15 Paragraph 108 states that in assessing applications for development, it 
should be ensured that safe and suitable access to the site can be 
achieved for all users. Paragraph 109 states that development should 
only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be 
unacceptable impacts on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.

Page 82



7.16 The proposed development would be ancillary to the existing football 
pitch and would not be open to the general public. The playing pitch is 
currently used by Furness Vale Football Club and or use by junior 
school. On match days, the applicant submits that the surrounding 
streets accommodate parking. The Highways Authority initially objected 
to the proposal on the grounds that the facility would lead to an 
increase in traffic volume and fail to provide adequate parking 
provision.

7.17 However, a letter responding to this initial objection has been submitted 
by the applicant, which provides further clarification on the proposed 
facility and its intended use, reiterating that the facility would not lead to 
an intensification of the use. In considering this letter, the Highways 
Authority has withdrawn its objection subject to the building remaining 
ancillary to the playing pitch. 

7.18 It is noted that the building will provide a function room/meeting room, 
which could be used for events other than in association with a football 
match. Given that no site parking will be provided, and visitors will rely 
on surrounding roads for car parking, it is considered necessary and 
reasonable to ensure that the function room is only used in association 
with a football match and for no other events.   

7.19 Subject to a condition which ensures that the use of the building 
remains ancillary to the pitch, it is considered that the proposal would 
not result in any increase in traffic volume beyond the present situation, 
and would not result in any adverse harm to highway safety, in line with 
Local Plan Policy CF6 and paragraphs 108 and 109 of the NPPF.

Other Technical Matters

7.20 The site is not situated within or near to any other sensitive 
designation. Consultation responses from United Utilities and from the 
Council’s Environmental Health team have requested that suitable 
conditions be attached to any decision notice to ensure that adequate 
drainage facilities are provided.

7.21 The applicant has agreed to a pre-commencement condition which will 
require a drainage feasibility study to be submitted and approved and 
the development being carried out in accordance with these approved 
details. Subject to this condition, it is considered that all technical 
matters have been addressed.

Planning balance & Conclusion

7.22 The new changing room facility would enhancement an established 
recreational sports facility and therefore complies with Policy CF5. 
Although the site lies outside of the development boundary it is well 

Page 83



related to the settlement of Furness Vale and located in a sustainable 
location with easy access for the local community.  

7.23 The revised plans are considered to be of an appropriate scale, height, 
layout and visual appearance and would be constructed using 
traditional materials, thereby resulting in a high quality design which 
preserve the character and appearance of the rural area, in line with 
Local Plan Policies S1 and EQ6 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

7.24 The application is not considered to result in any adverse harm to the 
amenity for users of this public open space or neighbouring residential 
properties, in line with Local Plan Policy EQ6 and paragraph 127 of the 
NPPF.

7.25 Subject to the proposed development remaining ancillary to the 
existing playing pitch and not being open to members of the general 
public, there are not considered to be any adverse harm to highway 
safety, in line with Local Plan Policy CF6 and paragraphs 108 and 109 
of the NPPF.

7.26 In conclusion, the application (in its final revised form), has been found 
to accord with all relevant local development plan policies and any 
other material consideration which includes the NPPF. In line with 
Local Plan Policy S1a and paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the application is 
recommended for approval subject to appropriate conditions. 

       
        8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. APPROVE subject to following conditions:

Time Limit 3 Year Time Limit
AP01 Approved Plans
NSTD Samples of all facing/external materials to be submitted 

to and approved by LPA prior to commencement of 
development. Development to be carried out in 
accordance with approved samples.

NSTD Use Ancillary to Football Pitch and not open to general 
public

NSTD Foul and Surface Water to be drained on separate 
systems

NSTD Drainage Scheme to be submitted and approved prior 
to commencement of development. Development to be 
carried out in accordance with approved plans

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager – Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 

Page 84



consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with paragraph 38 of the revised NPPF the Case 
Officer has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that 
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Site plan

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 14th January 2019

Application 
No:

HPK/2018/0465

Location Amenity space (former public conveniences) Water Street, 
Buxton, SK17 6XN

Proposal Change of use from site of former public conveniences to 
community amenity space

Applicant Buxton Civic Association  
Agent Mr Fussell
Parish/ward Corbar Date registered 11th 

September 2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Faye Plant, Tel. 
01298 28400 extension 4995, faye.plant@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE, subject to conditions 

REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee as the site is owned by High Peak Borough Council. 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site is situated on the north western side of Water Street, 
within an area of Council owned amenity land between Water Street and 
St Johns Road. The site previously housed a block of public conveniences 
which have long since been demolished and is currently used informally 
for parking and is in a state of disrepair.

2.2 The brick and concrete tiled base and stone/brick faced retaining walls 
remain in place and there are established planted beds surrounding the 
site enclosed by a steel rail fence.  

 
2.3 The site lies within a prominent location within the town centre and built up   
      area boundaries and within the Buxton Central Conservation area.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 The application seeks full consent for the use of the land as a community 
garden/amenity space.  

3.2 The proposal involves various repairs and works as listed below;

Page 87

Agenda Item 11



 Repair and extension of low stone wall with matching materials, 
including stone capping.

 Erection of a render finished block skin wall to be tied to the 
existing retaining wall,

 Replacement of concrete floor with York stone paving slabs with a 
concrete edge and tarmac paths with bench around the perimeter,

 Creation of planted beds to the front of the site at footway level and 
erection of timber planter centrally located within the site,

 Reinvigoration of planted area to create cottage garden, and 
planting of fruit trees.

3.3 Buxton Civic Association will be taking a licence to occupy the land and 
undertake the works. The description of development was amended 
during the course of the application, with the agreement of the applicant, 
to clarify the nature of the proposal.   

3.4 The application, the details attached to it including the plans, comments 
made by residents and the responses of the consultees can be found on 
the Council’s website at: 

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearch
Servlet?PKID=227231 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

 4.1There is no relevant planning history associated with this site. 

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 – Sustainable Development Principles
S1a – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 - Settlement Hierarchy
S7 – Buxton Sub Area Strategy 
E6 – Promotion Peak District Tourism and Culture
EQ6 – Design and Place Making
EQ7 - Built and Historic Environment
CF1 – Retail and Town Centres
CF4 – Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities
CF5 – Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and 
Facilities

Supplementary Planning Documents

 High Peak Design Guide
 Buxton Design and Place Making Strategy
 Buxton Conservation Area Character Appraisal

Page 88

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=227231
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=227231


      National Planning Policy Framework

Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

6. CONSULTATIONS 

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 31st December 2018
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: N/A
Press Advert Expiry date for comments: 6th December 2018

Neighbours

2 Letters of support received. Comments are summarised below;
 This is a good use of a derelict space

Consultee Comment Officer response

HPBC Asset 
Management 

Asset management are 
supportive of this development. 

Conservation 
Officer

No objection to the principle of 
enhancing and managing this 
neglected site but the detail is a 
little unclear. Conditions required 
to agree facing materials, details 
of wall construction including 
pointing, coursing, and coping 
and details of the bench and 
planter.

DCC
Archaeologist 

We do not consider that it will 
have any archaeological impact 
and would not wish to comment 
further.

DCC 
Highways

No objection subject to no 
encroachment on or over the 
pubic highway

HPBC 
Operational 
Services

We are fully supportive of the 
application to turn a derelict 
hardstanding area into a 
community sensory garden with 
appropriate planting which is 
beneficial to wildlife and attractive 
to visitors.  

7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Page 89



Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to 
be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

7.2  Section 38(6) requires the Local Planning Authority to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are 
material considerations which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides that 
in determining applications the Local Planning Authority "shall have regard to 
the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application 
and to any other material considerations." The Development Plan consists of 
the High Peak Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016. 

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018 (The Framework) and National Planning Policy Guidance 
(NPPG). Paragraph 10 of the Framework explains that at the heart of the 
Framework is the presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 
decision makers this means that when considering development proposals 
which accord with an up-to-date development plan, they should be approved 
without delay. 

Principle of Development

7.4 The application site lies within a relatively prominent location within the 
Conservation Area and town centre, close to numerous designated heritage 
assets such as the Devonshire Dome, Opera House, the Square, the 
Crescent and Pavillion Gardens.   

7.5 Section 8 of the NPPF seeks to achieve healthy, safe and inclusive places 
through, amongst other things, the provision of community facilities and open 
spaces to enhance the sustainability of communities. Strategic Policy S7 of 
the High Peak Local Plan seeks to protect and enhance the unique character 
of Buxton’s spa heritage and townscape to maintain quality of life and to act 
as a catalyst for tourism. Policy E6 and CF4 outline recreational facilities 
should be supported to improve resident and visitor experiences for the 
benefit of the health and well-bring of local communities. 

7.6 The proposed community amenity space is considered to be acceptable in 
principle, subject to matters regarding design, amenity and highway safety 
which are covered below. 

Design and Appearance within the Conservation Area

7.7 Section 16 of the Framework advises that when determining applications 
for works that affect heritage assets, local planning authorities should take 
account of:

Page 90



1. The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; 

2. The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and

3. The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness. 

7.8 Local Plan Policies S7, EQ6 and EQ7 also seek to protect and conserve 
heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance.  Section 12 of 
the NPPF aims to ensure developments function well and add to the overall 
quality of the area and are visually attractive. Similarly EQ6 aims for well 
designed, high quality development that responds positively to its 
environment.

7.9 The proposed use of the site and the proposed repairs and renovations 
are considered to be a significant improvement to the visual qualities of the 
area. The proposed materials are acceptable and the layout for the amenity 
space are appropriate and will result in an overall enhancement in the 
character and appearance of the site and the surrounding Conservation Area 
to which this site forms a part. 

7.10  It has been agreed with the applicant that details of the materials used 
will be agreed via pre-commencement condition. 

7.11 The proposals are therefore considered to be acceptable and in 
accordance with Section 12 and 16 of the NPPF and policies S7, EQ6 and 
EQ7 of the High Peak Local Plan. 

Amenity

7.12 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF seeks to create safe, inclusive and 
accessible places which have a high standard of amenity for existing and 
future users. Local plan policy EQ6 requires development to achieve a 
satisfactory relationship to adjacent development.

7.13 The proposals will not harm amenity of neighbouring properties and will 
provide an accessible community space that has good natural surveillance. 
The proposal is in accordance with Section 12 of the NPPF and policy EQ6 of 
the Local Plan in this regard. 

Highway Safety

7.14 The NPPF promotes sustainable transport, whilst Policy CF6 of the Local 
Plan seeks to ensure development can be safely accessed in a sustainable 
manner.

7.15 The highway authority have not raised objection to the proposal provided 
there is no encroachment into the public highway. The proposed garden will 
remove the potential for unauthorised parking, which currently requires 

Page 91



vehicles to cross the footway. The proposed works will not extend out of the 
site and the proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Section 
9 of the NPPF and Local Plan policy CF6 in this regard.  

8. Planning Balance & Conclusion

8.1  The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development through 3 overarching objectives, those being  
economic, social and environmental objective.

8.2 At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a presumption 
in favour of sustainable development. For decision making this means that 
amongst other things, that local planning authorities should positively seek 
opportunities to meet the development needs of their area and to secure a 
development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area. 

8.3 The proposals will have significant social and environmental benefits by 
improving a currently under-utilised area to create a visually attractive 
community garden area within the town centre and Conservation Area which 
is a designated heritage asset. 

8.4 The NPPF states at para 192:
In determining applications, local planning authorities should take 
account of: 
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage 
assets can make to sustainable communities including their economic 
vitality; and 
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness. 

8.5 Para 194 states: “When considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the 
asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial 
harm to its significance”. 

8.6 The NPPF goes on to explain that where a proposed development will 
lead to substantial harm to a designated heritage asset, local planning 
authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the 
substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public 
benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. Where a development proposal will 
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

Page 92



8.7 In this case the proposal will not result in conflict between the heritage 
asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal or adversely affect its 
significance. In fact, it is considered that the proposal will enhance the asset 
of the Conservation Area and the setting of other nearby heritage assets and 
would not result in any harm to those assets. Accordingly, therefore it is not 
necessary to consider whether any harm should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its 
optimum viable use. 

8.8 The proposal is compliant with the policies within the development plan 
and the NPPF and is considered to be sustainable development and is 
accordingly recommended for approval. 

 RECOMMENDATIONS

A. It is recommended that Full Planning Consent be APPROVED, subject 
to the following conditions: 

Condition number Brief description Comment
TL01 3 Year Time limit
AP01 Approved Plans
LB07 Submission of Materials
Non standard Details of proposed bench 

and proposed planter
Non standard Details coursing, pointing 

and stone copings 

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the Framework the Case 
Officer has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that 
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Page 93



Page 94



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Development Control Committee

14th January 2019

Appendices Attached - None

1.        Reason for the Report: To inform members of appeals lodged and 
decided since the last meeting of the Development Control Committee.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the report be noted.

3. APPEALS LODGED

None

4. APPEAL DECISIONS RECEIVED

Application No. HPK/2018/0323

Location: Jumble Farm, Kinder Road, Hayfield, Derbyshire, SK22 2HS

Proposal: Single storey side extension to form reconfigured kitchen, 
dining and utility, connection with outbuilding to form ancillary space to 
dwelling

Level and Date of Decision: Delegated 17th September 2018

TITLE: PERFORMANCE ON PLANNING APPEALS

CONTACT: DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT TEAM

WARDS INVOLVED: ALL

Page 95

Agenda Item 12



Recommendation: Refuse 

Decision: Refused

Appeal Decision and Date: Appeal dismissed on 30th November 2018

Method of Decision: Written Representations

Main Issues:  The effect of the proposal on the character and 
appearance of the host dwelling and its setting within the Hayfield 
Conservation Area (CA).
   
Conclusions:

The Inspector concluded:
 I do have concerns about the detailing of the proposed extension, 

particularly that of its north elevation (which is home to the main 
entrance) and also the south elevation. The large rectangular 4 
pane window section to the north elevation pays little regard to the 
fenestration arrangement of the host dwelling. To my mind, the 
detailing proposed neither fits with the traditional window and door 
arrangement of the converted barn nor is it a successful 
contemporary statement, which is the alternative design approach 
suggested by the Council’s adopted Supplementary Planning 
Document titled ‘Design Guide’ (SPD). In addition, I consider that 
the two rooflights and two windows with horizontal emphasis 
proposed for the south elevation of the extension and converted 
lean-to would give it an unduly cluttered appearance. 

 The extension would not be seen from the public domain. 
Nevertheless, for the above reasons, I find that it would harm the 
character and appearance of the host dwelling and that of the CA, 
which is home to well ordered buildings in the main. This harm 
would be ‘less than substantial’ as directed by the Planning Practice 
Guidance.

 The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) explains 
that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation. It goes on to say that where a 
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. In this case, the 
appellants have not suggested that the proposal would bring about 
any public benefit other than the limited economic benefits during 
construction.

Application No. HPK/2016/0614

Location: Land South of Shaw Lane, Hadfield, Glossop, SK13 6EE.

Proposal: 9 Unit housing scheme 

Page 96



Level and Date of Decision: Committee 22nd January 2018

Recommendation: Refusal

Decision: Refused

Appeal Decision and Date: Appeal allowed on 12th December 2018

Method of Decision: Written Representations

Main Issues: The main issues in this case are: (i) the effect of the 
proposed development on the character and appearance of the area, 
and (ii) the effect of the proposed development on the living conditions 
of future occupiers, with particular regard to daylight and sunlight.    

Conclusions:

The Inspector concluded:

 The design, scale and massing of the dwellings would be 
acceptable on a site of these dimensions and topography with 
the use of gabions. As there is a mix of residential development 
within the locality, the dwellings would add a suitable mix of 
development with use of quality materials and sensitive design 
that would not look incongruous within the locality. In addition, a 
proposed landscaping scheme would assist in screening the site 
from the future residential development to the rear, and in 
conjunction with boundary treatments would have the effect of 
the proposal assimilating naturally into the immediate locality, 
and setting a context for the forthcoming development beyond. 

 The appeal site currently performs a function as a green edge to 
the settlement, but I consider that the proposed planting and 
landscaping included as part of the appeal proposals would 
outweigh this existing function, and would lead to significant 
visual benefits that would only increase in importance once the 
development beyond starts to be constructed. Policy CF4 of the 
High Peak Local Plan (2016) (the LP) seeks to protect and 
maintain existing spaces, and in this instance the proposal is 
consistent with the aims of that policy, in that it will improve the 
overall visual aspects of the locality and provide a positive 
verdant aspect when seen in the context of the existing 
dwellings and the forthcoming residential development.

 The appellant has sought to design the site layout of the 
proposed dwellings in order to minimise any impacts on adjacent 
dwellings and the locality and has taken a design inspiration 
from some of the older style properties in the area. I recognise 
there is some variation in housing styles and materials in the 
area and the use of quality materials, fenestration, landscaping 
and boundary treatment would assist with integrating the 

Page 97



proposal with the area. As a result, I find that the positive design 
aspect presented with the scheme, and the considerable amount 
of landscaping proposed outweighs the removal of the existing 
verdant ‘green’ edge to the settlement. As the development 
matures, it will play a significant role in integrating the 
forthcoming residential developments adjacent to the appeal site 
into the locality.

 The layout of the proposed dwellings in relation to the retained 
trees has been designed to avoid pressure for significant 
pruning and removal by future residents and I have taken into 
account the evidence presented by the appellant with regard to 
sunlight pathways accordingly. I also note the layout has been 
designed to ensure that the root protection zones would not be 
affected and as such, the appeal proposal is consistent with 
policy EQ9 of the LP which seeks to protect existing trees, 
woodland and hedgerows.

Officer Comment

This decision contains a number of obvious errors. For example:  
Paragraph 15 does not read correctly and indicates that the Inspector 
is concerned that the scheme conflicts with policies when he has gone 
on to allow the appeal (see underlining below)

15. Consequently, I conclude that the proposed development would 
have not have a significant effect on the character and appearance of 
the area. The proposal conflicts with policies S1, S1a, CF4, EQ2, EQ6 
and EQ9 of the LP which, amongst other issues, seek development 
proposals to protect open spaces and protect and enhance character 
and appearance and local distinctiveness as well as seeking to resist 
proposals detrimental to local landscaping or the setting of a 
settlement, as well as integrating existing trees into development 
unless the benefits of development clearly outweigh their loss.

Paragraph 12 says:

12. I have noted that the appellant has not identified a shortfall in 
amenity open space and the site does not meet the designation.

Officers think that the Inspector means the Council rather than the 
Appellant here. 

There are other issues as well:

- There is no mention anywhere in the decision of the evidence of 
the Council, only the Appellant. We are concerned as to whether 
this was put before the Inspector. 

- There is no discussion of whether or not an affordable housing 
condition should be applied to the scheme. This was a 
significant point of disagreement between the two parties and 

Page 98



was considered at length in both statements. Members will recall 
that this was the subject of an Appeal decision last month which 
was not in the Council’s favour and Officers were hoping that a 
second decision on the topic would provide the Council with a 
decisive steer as to whether it should continue to apply this 
policy. 

We have written to Planning Inspectorate to ask them if they have 
accidently issued a “draft” decision which they might want to consider 
amending. They cannot change the actual decision unless we decide to 
challenge through Judicial Review but can correct slips, typos and 
omissions. They have said that they will respond in 20 days.

Meanwhile this of course does not assist the Council on the affordable 
housing question as we had hoped. 

Application No. HPK/2017/0624

Location: Former High Peak Borough Council Offices, Buxton Road, 
Chinley

Proposal: Variation of Condition No. 2 on HPK/2014/0486 for changes 
to approved plans including increase to roof heights of buildings, 
changes to footprint of buildings, use of timber cladding, and changes 
to window openings and glazing
 
Level and Date of Decision: Committee 12th February 2018

Recommendation: Approve

Decision: Approved with additional condition

Appeal Decision and Date: Appeal allowed (subject to revised 
condition) on 13th December 2018

Method of Decision: Written Representations

Main Issues: The Appeal was against Condition No 2 of the approval 
which states that: 

The materials to be used in the development hereby permitted shall be 
in accordance with those specified on the approved drawings with the 
exception of the timber cladding. Notwithstanding the details shown on 
the approved plans no consent is hereby given for the timber cladding 
on any of the buildings to which this permission relates. Within 6 
months of the date of this consent the timber cladding which has 
already been installed shall be replaced with tinted glass in accordance 
with samples which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The remainder of the development 

Page 99



shall also be completed using the approved glazing in place of timber 
cladding.

Conclusions:

The Inspector concluded:
 The Council’s adopted Design Guide Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD)(2018) makes it clear that there is no tradition 
of timber cladding in the High Peak. It also highlights the 
importance of stone and slate to the distinctive character of the 
High Peak and that the use of local building materials helps to 
create strong visual interest and cohesiveness. In my view, the 
SPD provides a clear steer on the use of such materials in the 
Borough. 

 The use of timber cladding on existing buildings results in harm 
to the character and appearance of the area. Using such 
materials on any new buildings would be equally incongruous in 
the context of the remainder of the site and thus should be 
avoided in the interests of local character. Use of such materials 
is in my view contrary to High Peak Local Plan (2016) Policy 
EQ6 which seeks, amongst other things, to ensure development 
is well designed and of a high quality that responds positively to 
its environment, whilst also contributing to local distinctiveness 
and sense of place. The use of such materials is also in conflict 
with paragraph 130 of the Framework and paragraph 127, which 
expects development to be visually attractive, sympathetic to 
local character and history and help maintain a strong sense of 
place. A condition requiring removal and replacement of the 
cladding is therefore necessary and reasonable. 

 The appeal should be allowed and the planning permission Ref 
HPK/2017/0624 for variation of Condition No. 2 on 
HPK/2014/0486 for changes to approved plans including 
increase to roof heights of buildings, changes to footprint of 
buildings, use of timber cladding, and changes to window 
openings and glazing granted on 12 February 2018 by High 
Peak Borough Council, is varied by deleting condition 2 and 
substituting it with the following condition: 

The materials to be used in the development hereby permitted 
shall be in accordance with those specified on the approved 
drawings with the exception of timber cladding. Notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans no consent is hereby 
given for timber cladding on any of the buildings to which this 
permission relates. Unless within 6 months of the date of this 
decision a scheme for the removal and replacement of the 
timber cladding that has already been installed, including details 
of replacement materials and a timetable for implementation, is 
submitted to the local planning authority for approval, and unless 
the approved scheme is implemented within the timescales 
agreed, the use of the site for its approved use shall cease and 

Page 100



all equipment and materials brought onto the land for the 
purposes of this use shall be removed until such time as a 
scheme is approved and implemented.  If no scheme in 
accordance with this condition is approved within 12 months of 
this decision, the use of the site for its approved use shall cease 
and all equipment and materials brought onto the land for 
purposes of this use shall be removed until such time as a 
scheme approved by the local planning authority is 
implemented.  The development will proceed in accordance with 
the approved scheme and timetable. The remainder of the 
development shall also be completed using the approved 
materials in place of timber cladding.

Officer Comment

 The Appeal decision is in respect of the condition imposed by 
Members on the former Council offices at Chinley requiring 
removal of the timber cladding. The Inspector agreed with us 
that the cladding was inappropriate and gave considerable 
weight to our newly adopted Design Guide, which is very 
encouraging and the new part of the NPPF which at Paragraph 
130 makes it clear that the quality of approved development 
should not be materially diminished between the granting of 
permission and completion as a result of changes being made to 
the permitted scheme. An example given is of changes to 
approved materials. This is the first time that we have seen this 
used in an Appeal decision. 

 It is also encouraging to see the inspector giving considerable 
weight to the newly adopted High Peak Design Guide. 

 The Inspector however, wanted to amend the wording to the 
condition so has actually “allowed” the appeal as he granted 
permission subject to a reworded condition. This still requires 
the cladding to be removed and replaced and in Officer’s view, 
in many ways, the wording is actually more stringent than that 
which we imposed as it requires the use to cease on the site if 
they do not comply. Therefore although the appeal was 
technically “allowed”, it is a very good decision for the Council.  

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Planning Applications
	6 HPK/2018/0428 Land rear of 20 Sunlaws Street, Glossop, Derbyshire - Detached 4 bedroom stone house with natural slate roof with associated external works and landscaping using existing vehicular access from Sunlaws Street
	Appendix

	7 HPK/2018/0571 Millstone Willows, Beet Lane, New Smithy, Chinley - retrospective application for a proposed stables building, access trackway and hardstanding area (resubmission of HPK/2017/0695)
	8 HPK/2018/0352 Broadlow Farm, Longridge Lane, Peak Dale - retrospective permission for erection of precast concrete sectional garden tool shed and timber stable / animal field shelter
	9 HPK/2018/0501 Lime Tree Park, Dukes Drive, Buxton - change of use of land for extension to existing camp site to include the siting of 21 static caravans
	10 HPK/2018/0492 Community Field, Park Avenue, Furness Vale - new changing rooms and associated facilities
	11 HPK/2018/0465 Amenity space (former public conveniences) Water Street, Buxton - change of use from site of former public conveniences to community amenity space
	12 Performance on Planning Appeals

